
Consolidated Financial Statements of 

COMMONWEALTH BANK LIMITED 

Year ended December 31, 2022 



COMMONWEALTH BANK LIMITED 

Consolidated Financial Statements 
Year ended December 31, 2022 

Page 

Independent Auditor’s Report 1-5

Certification of Actuary 6

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 7

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 8

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity 91

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 10

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 11 - 92



 
 
 
 

KPMG 
P.O. Box N-123 
Montague Sterling Centre 
Easy Bay Street 
Nassau, Bahamas 

 
 

 
 
Independent Auditors’ Report 

To the Shareholders of Commonwealth Bank Limited 

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Commonwealth Bank Limited and its subsidiaries (“the 
Group”), which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at December 31, 2022, the consolidated 
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then 
ended, and notes, comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information shown on pages 7 
to 92. 

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated financial position of the Group as at December 31, 2022, and its consolidated financial performance 
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards 
(“IFRS”). 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial 
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics 
Standards Board for Accountants International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International 
Independence Standards) (the “IESBA Code”) and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our opinion. 

Key Audit Matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters. 
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Impairment assessment of loans and advances to customers (“Loans”) (see notes 9 & 24) 
Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

As at December 31, 2022, Loans comprise 42.89% of the 
Group’s total assets, with total gross Loans of $862.23 
million and the related expected credit loss (“ECL”) 
impairment allowance of $75.98 million. 

 
The Group determines its Loans ECL as a function of four key 
factors: Probability of Default (“PD”), Loss Given Default 
(“LGD”), Exposure at Default (“EAD”) and the discount rate. 
The Group models these factors independently and uses 
various assumptions to develop the models. Key judgments 
and elements driving higher degrees of estimation uncertainty 
in the Loans ECL are as follows: 
 
- PD model: The Group has developed and implemented 

a subjective risk parameter PD model based on 
migration probabilities between the risk ratings in a one-
year period. The migration probabilities are assembled 
in a form of a transition matrix. The PD method applied 
requires significant judgement. 

 
- Significant increases in credit risk “SICR”: To assess 

whether an individual loan facility has experienced a 
SICR since initial recognition, the Group relies on a 
subjective internally developed risk rating system 
described further below. The selection of criteria for 
identifying SICR is highly dependent on judgement and 
may significantly impact the staging of loan facilities.  

 
- Forward Looking Indicator (“FLI”) adjustments: The 

Group developed a scorecard to assess the impact of 
macroeconomic factors on the Loans ECL and 
specifically the FLI adjustment for the PD. The 
macroeconomic variables chosen, reflect management’s 
judgement relating to the behaviour of the economy and 
the impact on the performance of the Group’s portfolios.  

    
- Internal risk rating (“IRR”) model and assumptions: 

Internal ratings are assigned to each loan facility 
according to the Group’s risk management framework and 
dependent upon management’s selected risk 
characteristics. Each loan facility is assigned a risk rating 
from 1-8 based (on a calculated risk score) on the 
borrower’s performance pattern and loan characteristics. 
Specifically, the following data inputs are used to 
determine the risk rating:  

• Credit scores - assigned to each loan at the inception 
of the loan 
• Days past due – number of days late on a loan   
payment 
• Loan status – (restructured, re-written or current) 
• Payment type – (interest & principal or principal only)  
• Loan type (e.g. automotive, education, vacation) 
• Recency of payment (only applicable to consumer 
loans) 
• Discounted collateral value (applicable to mortgages, 
commercial, and equity financed consumer loans) 

As part of our procedures, we performed the following: 
 

- Updated our understanding of the methodology, model 
and assumptions used in the calculation of the Loans ECL.  

 
- For adjustments identified, we tested the control over the 

review and approval of such adjustments by those charged 
with governance.  

 
- On a sample basis, we tested the accuracy of relevant data 

inputs through direct confirmation with external parties and 
by validating internal information obtained from the Bank 
(loan balances, interest rates, contractual maturities, 
collateral values, days past due, credit scores, loan status, 
etc.) used in the calculation of the final risk rating.  

 
- We performed analytical procedures over internal data to 

assess the appropriateness of the staging of restructured 
loans, credit impaired loans, loans modified during the year, 
and loans with increases in days past due at the reporting 
date. 

 
- We selected a sample of collateralized loans, and 

obtained the latest appraisal report. We assessed whether 
the estimation approach for the collateral is in line with the 
requirements of IFRS 9, and the appraised value when 
compared to other comparable assets, is considered 
reasonable.  

 
 

We engaged our KPMG credit specialists, to assist us in 
performing the procedures below: 
 
 Assessed the theoretical soundness and 
appropriateness of the methodology of the Loans ECL 
models with respect to the models’ design and objective. 
Models with higher estimation uncertainty evaluated by 
our credit specialists include (PD, SICR, LGD, IRR and 
FLI).  
 
 Performed a walkthrough of the Loans ECL model inputs, 
outputs and processes. 

 
 Executed a supervised replication that generates model 
parameters to calculate the model outputs and Loans 
ECL results.  

 
 Performed an evaluation of the Bank’s methodology used 
to calculate its ECL and to assess the appropriateness of 
the methodology and all final parameters including the 
final calculation, the PD, the PGD, EAD, expected lifetime 
of credit facilities, SICR, effective interest rate and FLI.  

 
 Performed a retrospective evaluation of the 12-month PD 
for the period 2018 to 2022 to identify bias in 
management’s assumptions underlying the estimates for 
the loans ECL and analyzed the ECL model’s predictive 
power. 
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Impairment assessment of loans and advances to customers (“Loans”) (see notes 9 & 24) 
Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

. 
- LGD model: The LGD model applied by the 

Group is based on subjective factors that are 
qualitatively  set by the management, without 
any statistical calibration. 

 
The ECL is a complex calculation, involving various 
models derived from management’s judgments and 
assumptions resulting in a high degree of estimation 
uncertainty. In addition, the Loans ECL is calculated in 
an ECL model with a specific algorithm. The 
conceptual soundness of the model’s algorithm 
impacts the overall precision of the ECL. Finally, the 
ECL on Loans is material to the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole and for these reasons, we 
deem this a key audit matter. 

 

 
Impairment assessment of investments carried at amortized cost (see notes 8 & 24) 
Description of key audit matter How the matter was addressed in our audit 

As at December 31, 2022, Investments carried at 
amortized cost (“Investments”), comprise 39.29% of the 
Group’s total assets, with total gross investments 
carried at amortized cost of $723.60 million and the 
related expected credit loss (“ECL”) impairment 
allowance of $3.24 million. 

Key judgments and estimates driving higher degrees of 
estimation uncertainty in respect to the ECL on 
investments carried at amortized cost are summarized 
below: 
 

- LGD model: To determine an appropriate LGD for 
Bahamas’ sovereign exposures, the Group 
analyzed actual losses experienced in recent debt 
restructurings of various Caribbean nations. 
Management applied a weighting mechanism for 
best, base and worst case scenarios. Given the 
very limited data on sovereign recovery rates, the 
estimates used to determine the LGD for 
Bahamas sovereign exposures are highly 
subjective.   
 

- SICR: The selection of criteria for identifying SICR 
is internally developed and highly dependent on 
judgement and may significantly impact the 
Investments ECL. 

 
- FLI: Significant judgement is considered when 

selecting macroeconomic forecasts. Such 
macroeconomic factors are used to calculate the 
Investment ECL under multiple probability 
weighting scenarios. 

 

Given the level of significant management judgements 
involved in determining the LGD and FLI models for the 
Investments carried at amortized cost and considering 
the Investments ECL is material to the consolidated 
financial statements as whole we deem this a key audit 
matter. 

   
 As part of our procedures, we performed the following: 

 
- Updated our understanding of the methodology, model and 

assumptions used in the calculation of the Loans ECL.  
 

- For adjustments identified, we tested controls over the review 
and approval of the adjustments by those charged with 
governance.  

 
- On a sample basis, we tested the accuracy of key data inputs 

through direct confirmation with external parties and with 
internal information obtained from the Bank (investment 
balances, contractual maturities, interest rates) used in in the 
Investments ECL calculation.  

 
We engaged our KPMG credit specialists, to assist us in 
performing procedures below: 
 
- Assessed the theoretical soundness and appropriateness of the 

methodology of the Investments ECL models with respect to the 
models’ design and objective. Models with higher estimation 
uncertainty evaluated by our credit specialists include (LGD, 
SICR and FLI). 
 

- Challenged management’s assumptions used in determining 
the LGD for the Government of the Bahamas’ Sovereign 
instruments and applied benchmarking analysis. 
 

- Performed a walkthrough of the Investments ECL model inputs, 
outputs and processes. 

- Performed an evaluation to assess the appropriateness of the 
methodology and all final parameters including the final 
calculation, the PD, LGD, EAD, expected lifetime of investment 
facilities, SICR, discount rate and FLI. 
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Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the Annual Report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in 
accordance with IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the 
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error. 

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations or 
has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued) 
 
 

 

 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

 
• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 

disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

 
• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 

activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible 
for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

 
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or 
safeguards applied. 
 
From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about 
the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our 
report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest 
benefits of such communication. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is John Lopez. 
 
 
 
 

Nassau, Bahamas 
April 26, 2023 
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CERTIFICATION 
 

This Certificate is prepared in accordance with the provisions of the Insurance Act, 2005 in respect of the 
life and health insurance business of Laurentide Insurance and Mortgage Company Limited. 

I have examined the financial position and valued the policy liabilities for its Statement of Financial 
Position s at December 31, 2022, and the corresponding change in the policy liabilities in the Statement of 
Profit and Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for the year then ended. 

In my opinion 

1. The methods and procedures used in the verification of the valuation data are sufficient and reliable and 
fulfill the required standards of care 

2. The methods and assumptions used to calculate the actuarial and the other policy liabilities are 
appropriate to the circumstances of the company and of the said policies and claims 

3. The valuation of actuarial and other policy liabilities has been made in accordance with 
generally accepted actuarial practice (with such changes as determined and any directions 
made by the Insurance Commission of the Bahamas) 

4. The valuation is appropriate under the circumstances of the company and the financial statements fairly 
reflect its results 

5. Having regard for the results of the investigation performed pursuant to section 62 of the Insurance Act, 
2005 the value of actuarial and other policy liabilities, when taken together with the total capital available 
makes good and sufficient provisions for all unmatured obligations under the terms of the policies in 
force 

 

Les Rehbeli 
Fellow of the Society of Actuaries 
Fellow of the Canadian Institute of 

Actuaries January 27, 2023 

 
 
Oliver, Wyman Limited 
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
 

These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on April 25, 2023, and are 
signed on its behalf by: 

 
 
 

Notes 2022 2021
ASSETS
Cash and deposits with banks 5,7 264,223$           192,458$          
Investments, net 5,8 729,036             698,857            

Loans and advances to customers, net 5,9,21,24 786,245             767,541            
Other assets 5,10 7,985                 9,680                
Right of use assets 11 1,182                 1,301                
Premises and equipment 12 44,558               47,068              

TOTAL ASSETS 6 1,833,229$        1,716,905$       

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

LIABILITIES  
  Deposits from customers 5, 13,21 1,513,397$        1,462,218$       
  Life assurance fund liability 14 581                    1,011                
  Lease liabilities 5, 11 1,242                 1,369                
  Other liabilities 5, 15, 21 30,215               13,816              

Total liabilities 6 1,545,435          1,478,414         

EQUITY 
  Share capital 16 1,951                 1,946                
  Share premium 16 13,544               11,667              
  Retained earnings 272,299             224,878            

Total equity 287,794             238,491            

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 1,833,229$        1,716,905$       
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.  

Notes 2022 2021
INCOME

Interest income, effective interest rate method 5, 21 120,224$           132,591$          
Interest expense 5,6,21 (17,254)              (17,105)             

             Net interest income 102,970             115,486            

Credit life insurance premiums 4,639                 4,159                
Fees and other income 5, 19 24,547               20,432              
Net change in unrealised gain on equity investment at FVTPL 5 629                    52                     

Total other income 29,815               24,643              

             Total income 6 132,785             140,129            

NON-INTEREST EXPENSE

General and administrative 20, 21, 22 77,830               67,794              
Impairment (reversals) losses on financial assets 8,9 (27,294)              93,001              
Insurance claims 2,200                 4,538                
Change in insurance reserves 14 (430)                   (1)                      

Depreciation on right of use assets 11 586                    661                   

Other depreciation 12 3,603                 3,700                

Finance cost on lease liabilities 11 51                      149                   

Loss on disposal of premises and equipment 12 10                      12                     

Directors' fees 21 308                    282                   

             Total non-interest expense 56,864               170,136            

TOTAL PROFIT (LOSS) 6, 17 75,921$             (30,007)$           

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Items that will not be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss:

Remeasurement of defined benefit obligation 22 766                    9                       

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) 76,687$             (29,998)$           

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE 
(expressed in dollars) 0.26$                 (0.10)$               
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.  
 

Notes
Share Capital 

(Common)
Share 

Premium
Retained 
Earnings Total

As at December 31, 2021 1,946$            11,667$   224,878$ 238,491$ 

Comprehensive income
      Total profit -                    -              75,921     75,921     
      Remeasurement gain of 

      defined benefit obligation -                    -              766        766         

-                    -              76,687     76,687     
Transaction with owners
      Repurchase of common shares 21 (3)                   (1,119)      -             (1,122)     
      Sale of treasury shares 16, 21 8                    2,996       -             3,004      
      Dividends - common shares 16 -                    -              (29,266)   (29,266)   

5                    1,877       (29,266)   (27,384)   

As at December 31, 2022 1,951$            13,544$   272,299$ 287,794$ 

Dividends per share (expressed in dollars) $0.10

2022

Notes
Share Capital 

(Common)
Share 

Premium
Retained 
Earnings Total

As at December 31, 2020 1,918$            1,048$     266,453$ 269,419$ 

Comprehensive loss
      Total loss -                    -              (30,007)   (30,007)   
      Remeasurement gain of 

      defined benefit obligation -                    -              9            9             

-                    -              (29,998)   (29,998)   
Transaction with owners
      Repurchase of common shares 21 (1)                   (257)         -             (258)        
      Sale of treasury shares 16, 21 29                  10,876     -             10,905     
      Dividends - common shares 16 -                    -              (11,577)   (11,577)   

28                  10,619     (11,577)   (930)        

As at December 31, 2021 1,946$            11,667$   224,878$ 238,491$ 

Dividends per share (expressed in dollars) $0.04

2021
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The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 

Notes 2022 2021
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Total profit (loss) 75,921$             (30,007)$           
Adjustments for:

    Depreciation on right of use assets 586                    661                   
    Other depreciation 3,603                 3,700                
    Finance cost on lease liabilities 51                      149                   

 Impairment (reversals) losses on financial assets (27,294)              93,001              
   Interest income (120,224)            (132,591)           
   Interest expense 17,254               17,105              

   Loss on disposal of premises and equipment 10                      12                     
Net change in unrealised gain on equity investment at FVTPL (629)                   (52)                    

(50,722)              (48,022)             

Change in loans and advances to customers 5,124                 4,893                
Change in minimum reserve requirement (1,673)                (1,931)               
Change in restricted deposit -                     2,691                
Change in right of use assets and other assets 1,994                 13,189              

Change in lease liabilities and other liabilities 16,859               (3,284)               
  Change in life assurance fund liability (430)                   (1)                      
  Change in deposits from customers 48,443               37,023              

Interest received 124,307             164,068            
Interest paid (14,518)              (7,820)               

    Net cash from operating activities 129,384             160,806            

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
   Purchase of investments (960,838)            (951,132)           

   Redemption of investments 930,670             716,778            

   Purchases of premises and equipment (1,212)                (7,186)               
   Proceeds from sale of premises and equipment 109                    31                     

    Net cash used in investing activities (31,271)              (241,509)           

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
    Dividends paid (29,266)              (11,577)             

    Repurchase of common shares (1,122)                (258)                  

    Sale of treasury shares 3,004                 10,905              

    Payment of lease liabilities (638)                   (742)                  

      Net cash used in financing activities (28,022)              (1,672)               

NET  INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH  AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS 70,091               (82,375)             
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, BEGINNING OF YEAR 135,132             217,507            

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, END OF YEAR 7 205,223             135,132            
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COMMONWEALTH BANK LIMITED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with corresponding figures as at and 
for the year ended December 31, 2021 
 
(All amounts stated as actual amounts, except tabular amounts which are expressed in Bahamian $000s) 

 

 

1. Incorporation and Activities 
 

Commonwealth Bank Limited (the “Bank”) was incorporated in The Commonwealth of The Bahamas 
(“The Bahamas”) on April 20, 1960, and is licensed by the Central Bank of The Bahamas (the “Central 
Bank”) to carry out banking business in The Bahamas under the provisions of the Banks and Trust 
Companies Regulations Act 2020. 
 
The Bank’s shares are publicly traded and listed on The Bahamas International Securities Exchange 
(“BISX”). 
 
The principal activities of the Bank and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) are described in Note 6. The 
registered office of the Bank is situated at Sassoon House, Shirley Street, Nassau, Bahamas. 

 
2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and Basis of Preparation 
 

(a) Basis of preparation 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board. 
These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented and are compliant with IFRS. 

 
The consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2022, have been approved 
by the Board of Directors on April 25, 2023. 
 
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis except for 
certain financial instruments that are measured at fair value. 

 
(b) Use of estimates and judgments 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise judgment in the process of applying 
the Group’s accounting policies. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be 
reasonable under the circumstances. Revisions to estimates are recognised prospectively. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates. 

The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where assumptions and 
estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements, are disclosed in Note 3. 
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COMMONWEALTH BANK LIMITED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with corresponding figures as at and 
for the year ended December 31, 2021 
 
(All amounts stated as actual amounts, except tabular amounts which are expressed in Bahamian $000s) 

 

 

(c) Principles of consolidation 
The consolidated financial statements include the assets, liabilities, financial performance and cash 
flows of the Group and all of its subsidiaries, after the elimination of intercompany transactions and 
balances. Subsidiaries are defined as entities controlled by the Group and exclude associates and joint 
arrangements. The Group controls an entity when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable 
returns from its involvement with the entity and can affect those returns through its power to direct 
the activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control is 
transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases. 
 
Intra-Group transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies 
are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of an 
impairment of the transferred asset. The accounting policies of subsidiaries are consistent with the 
policies adopted by the Group. 
 
Voting-interest subsidiaries 
Control is presumed with an ownership interest of more than 50% of the voting rights in an entity 
unless other factors indicate that the Group does not control the entity despite having more than 50% 
of the voting rights of the entity. 
 

(d) Changes in significant accounting policies 
New standards, amendments and interpretations adopted by the Group 
Standards and amendments and interpretations to published standards that became effective for the 
Group’s financial year, beginning on January 1, 2022 were, either not relevant or not significant to the 
Group’s operations and accordingly did not have a material impact on the Group’s accounting 
policies or consolidated financial statements. 
 
New standards, amendments and interpretations not yet adopted by the Group 
The application of new standards and amendments and interpretations to existing standards that 
have been published but are not yet effective are not expected to have a material impact on the 
Group’s accounting policies or consolidated financial statements in the financial period of initial 
application, except for IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts (“IFRS 17”). 
 
IFRS 17 defines clear and consistent rules that aim to increase the comparability of financial 
statements. For insurers, the transition to IFRS 17 will have an impact on financial statements and 
key performance indicators. IFRS 17 is applicable for annual periods beginning on or after January 
1, 2023.  The assessment of the impact on the Group of adopting the standard and proposed 
amendments is ongoing with external specialists. 
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(e) Financial assets and liabilities 
Financial assets 
 

Recognition and initial measurement 
A financial asset is any asset that is cash, a contractual right to receive cash or another financial 
asset, or to exchange financial instruments with another enterprise under conditions that are 
potentially favourable or an equity instrument of another enterprise. 
 
The Group’s financial assets are defined as cash and deposits with banks, investments, loans and 
advances to customers, and accounts receivable which is included in other assets on the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. 
 
Classification and measurement 
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following measurement categories: 
 

1. Amortised cost 
On initial recognition, a financial asset is measured at amortised cost if both of the following 
conditions are met: (a) the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to 
hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows; and (b) the contractual terms of 
the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal 
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. 

 
Financial assets classified at amortised cost are carried at the amount at which the asset was 
measured upon initial recognition, minus principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative 
amortisation of any premium or discount, and minus any write-down for expected credit losses 
(“ECL”). 

 
2. Fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”) 

A financial asset is measured at FVTPL if it does not meet the criteria to be measured at 
amortised cost or at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVOCI”). 

 
The classification of financial assets is generally based on the business model under which the 
asset is held and its contractual cash flow characteristics as described below. 

 
The classification and subsequent measurement of financial assets are determined by the 
Group’s business model for managing the financial asset, and the cash flow characteristics of 
the financial asset. 
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Business model assessment 
A business model assessment is performed to determine how a portfolio of financial assets is 
managed to achieve the Group’s business objectives. Judgment is used in determining the 
appropriate business model for a portfolio of financial assets. The three categories of business 
models are “hold to collect”, “hold to collect and sell”, and “other”. 
 
For the assessment of a business model, the Group takes into consideration the following factors: 

 How the performance of assets in a portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s 
management; 

 How compensation is determined for the Group’s business lines’ management that manages 
the assets; 

 Whether the assets are held for trading purposes i.e., assets held within a business model 
and how those risks are managed; and 

 The frequency and volume of sales in prior periods and expectations about future sales 
activity. Information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an 
overall assessment of how the Group’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is 
achieved and how cash flows are realised. 

 
Financial assets that are not held to collect, or both held to collect, and sell are assessed at a 
portfolio level reflective of how the asset or group of assets are managed together to achieve a 
particular business model. 
 
Contractual cash flow assessment 
The contractual cash flow characteristics assessment involves assessing the contractual features 
of an instrument to determine if they give rise to cash flows that are consistent with basic credit 
arrangements. Contractual cash flows are consistent with basic credit arrangements if they 
represent cash flows that are solely payment of principal and interest on the principal amount 
outstanding. 
 
In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Group considers the contractual 
terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a 
contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it 
would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Group considers: 

 
 contingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows; 
 leverage features; 
 prepayment and extension terms; 
 terms that limit the Group’s claim to the cash flows from specified assets; and 
 features that modify consideration of the time value of money. 
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Principal is defined as the fair value of the instrument at initial recognition. Principal may change 
over the life of the instrument due to repayments or amortisation of premiums/discounts. 
Interest is defined as the consideration for the time value of money and the credit risk associated 
with the principal amount outstanding and for other basic lending risks and costs (liquidity risk 
and administrative costs), and a profit margin. 

 

If the Group identifies any contractual features that could significantly modify the cash flows 
of the instrument such that they are no longer consistent with a basic lending arrangement, the 
related financial asset is classified and measured at FVTPL. 
 

With the exception of investments in equity securities, all financial instruments are classified at 
amortised cost at the reporting date. Investments in equity securities are classified at FVTPL. 
 
Initial Recognition 
The Group initially recognises loans and advances to customers and deposits from customers 
on the date on which they are originated. All other financial instruments, (including regular-
way purchases and sales of financial assets) are recognised on the trade date, which is the date on 
which the Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 
 
When a new financial asset is recognised, it will generally be recorded in Stage 1, unless it is 
credit-impaired on recognition. 
 
Initial Measurement 
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of 
a financial asset not at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition 
of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at FVTPL are expensed in 
profit or loss. 
 
Subsequent Measurement 
Subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on the Group’s business model for 
managing the asset and the cash flow characteristic of the asset. The two measurement 
categories are as noted above. 
 
Reclassification 
Financial assets are not reclassified after their initial recognition, except in the period after the 
Group changes its business model for managing financial assets. 
  
Modification 
The terms of a financial asset may be modified such that the contractual cash flows are changed. 
The treatment of a modification depends on the nature of the expected changes. 
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If the cash flows are substantially different, the contractual rights to cash flows from the original 
asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognized and a 
new financial asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees 
received as part of the modification are accounted for as follows: 
 
 fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent 

reimbursement of the eligible transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of 
the asset; and 

 other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition. 
 

If cash flows are modified when the borrower is in financial difficulty, then the objective of the 
modification is usually to maximize recovery of the original contractual terms rather than to 
originate a new asset with substantially different terms. If the Group plans to modify a financial 
asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash flows, then it first considers whether a 
portion of the asset should be written off before the modification takes place. The financial asset 
continues to be monitored for increases in credit risk and impairment. 
 
If the modification of a financial asset measured at amortised cost does not result in 
derecognition of the financial asset, the gross carrying amount of the financial asset is 
recalculated using the original effective interest rate of the asset and the adjustment is recognised 
as a modification gain or loss in profit or loss. 
 
Derecognition 
Financial assets are de-recognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial 
assets have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership. For loans and advances to customers, this generally occurs when 
borrowers repay their obligations, or the loans are sold or written off.  Similarly, for investments 
this occurs when the investments mature and the contractual payments underlying the 
investments have been repaid to the Group, or when the investment is sold or written off.   
 
If the Group has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of 
ownership, an assessment is made whether the Group has retained control of the financial assets. 
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Financial liabilities 
Financial liabilities are any liabilities that are: 

 
 Contractual obligations to deliver cash or another financial asset to another entity or to exchange 

financial assets or financial liabilities with another entity under conditions that are potentially 
unfavourable to the Group; 

 
 Contracts that will or may be settled in the Group’s own equity instruments and are either a 

non-derivative for which the Group is or may be obliged to deliver a variable number of its own 
equity instruments, or a derivative that will or may be settled either by exchange of a fixed 
amount of cash or another financial asset for a fixed number of the Group’s own equity 
instruments. 

 
Financial liabilities are classified as either a) FVTPL or b) amortised cost. 

 
Financial liabilities are classified as FVTPL where the financial liability is either held for trading or 
is designated as FVTPL. Financial liabilities at FVTPL are stated at fair value with any resulting gain 
or loss recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. 

 
Initial Measurement 
Financial liabilities classified at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction 
costs. 
 
Subsequent Measurement 
Subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method with interest expense 
recognised on an effective yield basis. 
 
Derecognition 
The Group’s financial liabilities comprise deposits from customers, lease liabilities, and certain other 
liabilities, including accounts payable.  Financial liabilities (or parts thereof) are derecognised when 
the liability has been extinguished and the obligation specified in the contract is discharged, 
cancelled, or expires. 
 
All of the Group’s financial liabilities are classified at amortised cost. 

 
(f) Impairment of financial assets measured at amortised cost 

The Group recognises ECL on financial assets measured at amortised cost.  ECL for financial assets 
measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying amount of the assets. 

Impairment losses are measured at an amount equal to the 12-month ECL or lifetime ECL 
depending on the stage in which the asset is classified. 
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12-month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events that are possible within the 12 
months after the reporting date (or a shorter period if the expected life of the instrument is less than 
12 months). Lifetime ECL are the ECL that results from all possible default events over the 
maximum contractual period of exposure. 

 
The maximum period considered when estimating ECL is the maximum contractual period over 
which the Group is exposed to credit risk. 
 
ECL of financial assets is recognised in three stages: 
 
Stage 1 – Performing financial assets are categorized as Stage 1 and an allowance is recognised 
based on default events expected to occur within the next 12 months. On subsequent reporting dates, 
12-month ECL continues to apply where there is no significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) 
since initial recognition. 
 
Stage 2 – Performing financial assets are categorized as Stage 2 when there is a SICR since initial 
recognition but the financial asset is not credit-impaired. The Group recognises the full lifetime 
ECL on Stage 2 financial assets. 

In determining whether a SICR has occurred since initial recognition, and when estimating ECL, 
the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without 
undue cost or effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based 
on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment and forward-looking 
information. Critical accounting judgments and key sources of estimates are discussed in Note 3.  
 
The assessment of whether an asset is in stage 1 or 2 considers the relative change in the probability 
of default occurring over the expected life of the instrument, and is not assessed based on the change 
in the amount of the ECL. This involves setting quantitative tests combined with additional 
indicators such as credit risk classification and other observable inputs. Assets that are more than 
30 days past due, but not credit-impaired, are classed as stage 2. 
 
Changes in the expected credit loss, including the impact of movements between the first stage (12 
month ECL) and the second stage (lifetime ECL), are recorded in profit or loss. 
 
Stage 3 - If one or more default events occur which are expected to have an adverse effect on the 
estimated future cash flows from the financial asset, the Group continues to recognise the full 
lifetime ECL. At this stage, the financial asset is credit-impaired and categorized as Stage 3. 
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The Group considers all financial assets, except for sovereign and government-related debt to be in 
credit-impaired when: 
 
 The credit facility is 90 days or more past due; 

 The borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by 
the Group through actions such as realising security (if any held); and/or 

 The borrower is on principal-only repayment terms. 
 

IFRS 9 does not alter the Group’s definition of default currently used to determine whether or not 
there is objective evidence of impairment of a financial asset. 
 
The Group shall consider its investment in sovereign and government-related debt to have defaulted 
when payments or an obligation are not made on the agreed date due or when other relevant 
qualitative and quantitative information becomes available to the Bank, indicating that the sovereign 
and government-related debt will go into default on or before the reporting date, or within twelve 
months after the reporting date. 
 
In the event the payment or an obligation due date falls on a non-business day, the instrument is 
deemed to have effectively defaulted where the payment or obligation is not met within three (3) 
business days of the due date. 
 

Where payments or an obligation on sovereign and government-related debt is resumed, the default 
status is deemed cured where payments or obligations are met in full for at least one (1) year from 
the breach of the sovereign credit arrangement. 
 
Measurement of ECL 
Measurement of ECL is disclosed in Note 24. 
 
Write-off of loans and advances to customer 
Loans and advances to customers (and the related ECL) are normally written off, either partially or in full, 
when there is no realistic prospect of recovery of the principal amount and, for a collateralised loan, when 
the proceeds from realising the security have been received. Consumer loans are written-off in the month 
after principal and/or interest payments become 360 days contractually in arrears. Credit card loans are 
written-off in the month after principal and/or interest payments become 180 days contractually in arrears. 
 
Recovery of previously written-off loans 
Recoveries of principal and/or interest on previously written off loans are recognised in impairment 
losses on financial assets net in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income on a cash basis or when the loan is rewritten on normal terms prevailing at 
the time of the rewrite. 
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Renegotiated loans 
Loans subject to impairment assessment, whose terms have been renegotiated, are subject to 
ongoing review to determine whether they remain impaired or should be considered past due. The 
carrying amount of loans that have been classified as renegotiated retain this classification until 
maturity or derecognition. 
 

(g) Impairment of non-financial assets 
At each reporting date, management reviews the carrying amount of non-financial assets to 
determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any 
such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated to determine the extent of the 
impairment loss. The recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately unless the relevant asset is carried 
at a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation decrease to the 
extent that there is a revaluation surplus. 
 

(h) Cash and cash equivalents 
For the purposes of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, cash  and cash equivalents comprise 
cash on hand and unrestricted deposits with banks that have original maturities of three months or 
less, including cash with the Central Bank, amounts due from banks, and short-term treasury bills. 
Cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortised costs on the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position. 
 
 

(i) Investments 
Investments in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position include: 
 
 debt investment securities measured at amortised cost less ECL. These are initially measured at 

fair value plus incremental direct transaction costs, and subsequently at their amortised cost using 
the effective interest method; and 
 

 equity investment securities measured at FVTPL. These are measured at fair value with changes 
recognised immediately in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income. 

 
(j) Loans and advances to customers 

Loans and advances to customers in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position include loans 
and advances measured at amortised cost which are initially measured at fair value, and 
subsequently at their amortised cost using the effective interest method. 
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(k) Leases 

 
Classification and measurement 
The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases, except for short- 
term leases (leases with terms of twelve months or less) and leases of low-value assets. Lease 
contracts are typically made for a fixed period with an extension option which is exercisable by the 
Group. A lease of low-value assets, on the other hand, is a lease for which an underlying asset is of 
low value (per the standard, with a value of $5,000 or the equivalent for new similar assets). 
 
Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group allocates the consideration 
in the contract to the lease and non-lease components based on their relative stand- alone prices. 
Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of different terms and 
conditions. 
 
The lease agreements do not impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased 
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as security for borrowing purposes. 
 
Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the 
leased asset is available for use by the Group. 
 

Short-term leases and leases of low value assets 
The Group has elected not to recognise right of use assets and lease liabilities of assets that have a 
lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-valued assets. The Group recognises the lease 
payment associated with leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 
 
Initial measurement 
1. Lease liabilities 

Lease liabilities are initially measured as the present value (PV) of the lease payments not paid. 
The PV is determined by using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily 
determined, the Group’s incremental borrowing rate is used. This rate is defined as the rate of 
interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term and with similar security 
to obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-to-use asset in a similar economic environment. 
 

2. Right of use assets 
Right of use assets are measured at cost comprising the following: 

 
 The amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; 
 Any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any incentives 

received; 
 Any initial direct costs; and 
 Restoration costs. 
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Subsequent Measurement 
1. Lease liabilities 

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance costs. The finance cost is charged to 
the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income over the lease 
period to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability 
for each period. Accordingly, the lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the 
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability (using the effective interest method) and 
by reducing the carrying amount by the lease payments made. 
 

2. Right of use assets 
Right of use assets are depreciated using the straight-line method over the shorter period of the 
lease term and the useful life of the underlying asset. The Group defines the lease term as the 
period of time in which a contractual lease is in place. The Group assesses whether there is an 
indication of impairment for the right-of-use asset in accordance with IAS 36, Impairment of 
Assets. In the event of impairment, a test is performed. Judgments applied by the Group in 
determining the measurement of its lease liabilities and right-of-use assets are disclosed in Note 
11. 

 

(l) Premises and equipment 
Premises and equipment are carried at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and 
accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to 
the acquisition of an item. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or are 
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
All repairs and maintenance costs are charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and 
Other Comprehensive Income as a part of total profit during the financial period in which they are 
incurred. 
 
Land is not depreciated.  
 
Depreciation on other premises and equipment assets are computed on a straight-line basis, net of 
residual values, and are charged to profit or loss over their estimated useful lives as follows: 
 
Site improvements - 5 – 10 years 
Buildings - The shorter of the estimated useful life or a maximum of 40 years 
Leasehold  improvements -The shorter of the estimated useful life or the lease term                                                    
Furniture, fittings and equipment - 3 – 10 years 

 
The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each 
reporting date. 
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Gains or losses arising from the disposal or retirement of an item of premises and equipment are 
determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset. Such 
gains or losses are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income. 

 
(m) Deposits from customers 

Deposits from customers are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at 
amortised cost using the effective interest method.  Deposits from customers are derecognised when 
the financial liability has been extinguished. 
 

(n) Life insurance fund liability 
Laurentide Insurance and Mortgage Company Limited (“Laurentide”) calculates its actuarial 
liabilities for individual life insurance policies using the Canadian Policy Premium Method. The 
calculation of these policy reserves is based on assumptions as to future rates for mortality and 
morbidity, investment yields, policy lapse and expenses, which contain margins for adverse 
deviations. Changes in the liability are estimated with the assistance of an independent actuary and 
charged to the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. 
 

(o) Offsetting 
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Consolidated 
Statement of Financial Position when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously. The legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be 
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy 
of the Group or the counterparty. 
 
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under IFRS, or for gains and 
losses arising from a group of similar transactions. 
 

(p) Recognition of income and expense 
 

Interest income and interest expense 
The Group recognizes interest income and interest expense in the Consolidated Statement of Profit 
or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income for all financial instruments measured at amortised cost 
using the effective interest method described below, except for financial assets that have 
subsequently become credit-impaired (‘Stage 3’ financial assets). For these Stage 3 financial assets, 
interest income is calculated using the method for non-performing loans as described below. 
 
Loan origination fees for loans are deferred (together with related direct costs) and recognized as 
an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loans as they are an integral part of the loan. The 
adjustment to the effective interest rate has been determined by using the estimated terms of loans to 
maturity or repayment, if earlier. 
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The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a 
financial liability and of allocating the interest income and interest expense over the relevant period. 
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash payments or receipts 
through the expected life of the financial instrument or, where appropriate, a shorter period to the 
net carrying amount of the financial asset or liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, 
the Group estimates cash flows considering all contractual terms of the financial instrument (for 
example, prepayment options) but does not consider future credit losses. The calculation includes 
all fees paid or received between parties to the contract that are an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and all other premiums or discounts. 
 

In accordance with local regulatory guidelines, a loan is classified as non-performing when payment 
is contractually 90 days in arrears, or the total amount outstanding outside of contractual 
arrangements is equal to at least 90 days’ worth of payments. When a loan is classified as non- 
performing, recognition of interest ceases, and interest 90 days in arrears is reversed from income. 
Loans are generally returned to performing status when the timely collection of both principal and 
interest is reasonably assured and all delinquent principal and interest payments are brought current. 
 
When a loan is granted forbearance, the contractual repayments of principal and interest are deferred 
until the end of the forbearance period. However, irrespective of the suspension of payment the 
recognition of interest continues during the forbearance period. 

The Bank continues to accrue interest to income on loans specifically assessed as non-performing 
and where the estimated net realizable value of the security held, where applicable, is sufficient to 
recover the payment of outstanding principal and accrued interest. 

 
Credit life insurance premiums 
Credit life insurance premium income is recognized at the time a policy comes into effect. Premiums 
are shown net of refunds.  Policies written before 2017 were paid in full at the origination of the 
contract for the term of the contract. The maximum term of any contract is 72 months. For these 
policies, the contract amount is recognized as premium income with an associated expense being 
recognized relative to the life insurance fund liability. Refunds on insurance contracts that have not 
yet expired are allowed on early withdrawal using the “Rule of 78”. The Rule of 78 is a method of 
calculating how much pre-calculated interest a lender refunds to a borrower who pays off a loan 
early. Premiums for policies written in 2017 and subsequent years are assessed monthly and are 
calculated on the current balance of the associated loan. Such premiums are recognized when 
assessed. 
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Fee income 
Fee income comprises amounts earned from the ancillary services the Group provides primarily in 
connection with its offering of loans and advances to customers, and bank deposit services. Fees 
generated for services performed for the customer over a period of time are recognized over the 
service period on a straight-line basis.  Other fees are recognized at a point in time when the Group 
satisfies its performance obligation, usually upon execution of the underlying transaction, which is 
generally at the time the customer's account is charged. 
 
 

Other income and expenses 
Other income relates mainly to other service charges, rental income and foreign exchange. Service 
charges are recognised as the services are rendered. Rental income is recognised on a straight- line 
basis over the term of the lease. Insurance claims are recognized when incurred. Other expenses are 
recognised as the services are received. 
 

 
 
(q) Foreign currency translation 
 

Functional and presentation currency 
Items included in the consolidated financial statements of the Group are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates (the functional 
currency). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Bahamian dollars, which is the 
Group’s functional and presentation currency. 
 
Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the rates of exchange 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. 

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and the 
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive 
Income as a part of total profit. Translation differences on monetary financial assets measured at 
FVTPL are included as part of the fair value gains and losses. 

 
(r) Dividends on common shares 

Dividends on common shares are deemed declared and recognised as a deduction from equity in the 
period in which the dividends are approved by the Board and receive the applicable regulatory 
approvals. 

 
(s) Earnings per common share 

Earnings per share are computed by dividing the total profit by the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the year and not held by Group companies. 
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(t) Retirement benefit costs 

The Bank maintains defined benefit (“DB Provisions”) and defined contribution (“DC Provisions”) 
pension plans (together referred to as “the plans”) covering all of its employees. Assets of the plans 
are administered by, and under the control of, independent trustees. 

The Pension Committee is responsible for advising the Board of Directors in fulfilling its fiduciary 
and oversight duties for the Bank’s pension arrangements. As a part of this responsibility, members 
of the committee review the performance of the trustees, administrator and investment manager in 
accordance with the trust deed, plan rules and investment policy statement, as well as providing 
support and making recommendations, as appropriate. The Pension Committee comprises members 
of the Bank’s Board of Directors, one management employee and one non- management employee 
elected by the employees triennially. 

The Bank’s contributions under the defined contribution pension plan are recognised as staff costs in 
general and administrative expenses. 

The cost of providing benefits under the defined benefit plan is determined using the projected unit 
credit method, with actuarial valuations being carried out at each reporting date. The  defined benefit 
obligation is calculated annually by independent actuaries. The asset or liability amount recognised 
in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position represents the present value of the defined 
benefit obligation and the current service cost at the end of the reporting period less the fair value 
of plan assets. 

Pension costs under the DB Provisions include the present value of the current year service cost 
based on estimated final salaries, interest on obligations less interest on assets, and estimated 
administrative costs. Current service cost and net interest on the net defined benefit asset or liability 
are charged to general and administrative expenses. 
 
Changes in the net defined benefit asset or liability recorded in other comprehensive income include 
actuarial gains and losses on obligations, and assets arising from experience different than assumed 
and changes in assumptions. 
 

(u) Short-Term Benefits 

Short-Term Benefits are employee benefits to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end 
of the annual reporting period in which the employee renders the related services and is recorded as 
the services are rendered. 
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(v) Share-Based Payments 
 
Equity-settled share-based payments 
The Bank issues equity-settled share-based payments to certain management staff. The Bank 
determines the fair value of stock options on their grant date using the Black Scholes Model and 
records this amount as compensation expense. The expected life used in the model has been 
adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise 
restrictions and behavioural considerations. The fair value determined at the grant date of the equity-
settled share-based payments is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. When the 
stock options are exercised the proceeds are recorded in share capital and share premium. 
 
Other Stock-Based Compensation Plan 
The Bank offers non-management staff the option of purchasing common shares at a 10% discount  
from the prevailing market rate at the time of the offer. 
 
The amount of discount is recorded as compensation expense with a corresponding increase to 
share premium. Payments by staff for the shares are credited to share capital and share premium. 
 

(w) Equity instruments 
 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Group 
after deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs. Ordinary shares, and preference shares whose terms do not create contractual 
obligations, are classified as equity (Note 16). 
 
Treasury shares 
Treasury shares represents the Bank’s issued shares that have been repurchased by the Bank. 
Treasury shares are deducted from equity and no gain or loss is recognised on the purchase, sale, 
issue or cancellation of treasury shares. Any premium or discount to par value is shown as an 
adjustment to share premium. 
 

(x) Other items 
1. Financial guarantees and loan commitments 

Financial guarantee contracts require the Group to make payments to reimburse the holder for a 
loss it incurs if a debtor does not make a payment in accordance with the terms of the debt 
agreement. Financial guarantees are recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position at the higher of the fair value of the fees originally received less cumulative 
amortization recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, and the expected credit 
loss, as documented below. 

Loan commitments are undrawn firm commitments to provide credit under pre-specified terms 
and conditions. 
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The nominal value of the financial guarantees and loan commitments are not recognised in the 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. Both financial guarantees and loan commitments 
are subject to an allowance for expected credit losses and subject to the same impairment 
considerations as documented in Note 2(f). Where a financial instrument includes both a loan 
and a loan commitment component, the loss allowance on the loan commitment is recognised 
together with the loss allowance for the loan. Where a financial instrument does not include both 
a loan and a loan commitment component, the loss allowance is recognised as a provision. 

 
2. Related parties 

A related party is a person or entity that is related to the reporting entity: 
 

i. A person or close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if the 
person: 
a. has control or joint control of the Group 
b. has significant influence over the Group; 
c. is a close family member of an individual or those family members who may be 

expected to influence, or be influenced by, that individual in their dealings with the 
Group; or 

d. is a member of the Group’s key management personnel, including directors. 

ii. An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions exist: 
a. An entity is a member of the Group; 
b. An entity is associated with, or is a joint venture partner with the Group; 
c. An entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of the Group; 
d. An entity can control or exercise significant influence over the Group in making financial 

or operational decisions; and 
e. An entity is jointly controlled or significantly influenced by parties described in i) above. 

 
A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between the Group 
and a related party. Transactions with related parties are disclosed in Note 21. 

 
3. Liability Provisions 

Provisions for restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events, it is more likely than not that an outflow 
of resources will be required to settle the obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated. 

 
4. Taxation 

Life insurance premium tax is incurred at the rate of 3% of premiums written by the Group’s 
insurance company, and recognised as an expense at the time that premiums are written and 
included in general and administrative expenses. 
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Effective January 1, 2022, value-added tax was decreased from 12% to 10%. The Group is 
required to pay value-added tax at a rate of 10% on goods and services as prescribed by the 
Value Added Tax Act. The Group also pays business licence fees in accordance with the 
Business Licence Act, real property tax in accordance with the Real Property Tax Act and stamp 
duty. 

There is no other income, capital gains or corporate taxes imposed. The Group’s operations do 
not subject it to taxation in any other jurisdiction. 

 
5. Business Segments 

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to 
the Executive Committee which is responsible for allocating resources to the reportable 
segments and assessing their performance. Income and expenses directly associated with each 
segment are included in determining operating segment performance. The Group has five 
operating segments which are organised based on the nature of the products and services 
provided by each segment. 

 
i. Retail banking – the provision of full-service personal banking including the acceptance 

of savings, fixed and demand deposits, providing consumer financing through loans, 
overdrafts and credit cards and mortgage financing on real estate and the sale of foreign 
exchange. 
 

ii. Credit life insurance – the provision of credit life insurance in respect of the Bank’s 
borrowers through Laurentide. 
 

iii. Real estate holdings - ownership and management of real property which is rented to 
branches and departments of the Bank through C.B. Holding Co. Ltd. 
 

iv. Investment holdings – holdings of investments in the Bank’s common shares through 
C.B. Securities Ltd. 
 

v. Insurance agency operations – provision of insurance agency services to the Group’s 
insurance company, its sole client through Laurentide Insurance Agency Limited. 

 
The entities within the Group operate within the same geographical area. Non-Bahamian dollar 
assets and liabilities are not material and are therefore not allocated to business segments. 
 
Inter-segment revenues are charged at competitive market prices. Inter-segment expenses are 
transferred at cost. All transactions between segments are eliminated on consolidation. 
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There are no other operations that constitute separate reportable segments. The segment 
operations are all financial, and principal revenues are derived from interest and fee income. No 
single customer contributed 10% or more of the Group’s total income for the periods covered in 
the consolidated financial statements. 

 
3. Critical Accounting Judgements and Key Sources of Estimation Uncertainty 

 
The following are critical estimates and key judgments that management has made in the process of applying 
the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the 
consolidated financial statements. 
 
1. Impairment of financial assets 

The impairment losses on financial assets represent management’s estimate of ECL. 
 
The measurement of the ECL allowance on financial assets is an area that requires the use of 
complex models and significant assumptions about the future economic conditions and credit 
behaviour (e.g. the likelihood of customers defaulting and the resulting losses). 
 
ECL is defined as the weighted expected probable value of the discounted credit loss (on principal 
and interest) determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes and future economic 
conditions. It represents the present value of the difference between the contractual cash flows and 
the expected cash flows. 
 
The process for determining the allowance involves significant quantitative and qualitative 
assessments. Particularly, a number of significant judgments are also required in applying the 
accounting requirements for measuring ECL, such as: 
 
 Determining criteria for a significant increase in credit risk; 
 Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of ECL; 
 Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of 

product/market and the associated ECL; 
 Assessing the risk rating and impaired status of loans; 
 Determining the additional risk, if any, related to loans granted forbearance; 
 Estimating cash flows and realisable collateral values; 
 Developing default and loss rates based on historical data; 
 Estimating the impact on historical data by changes in policies, processes and credit 

strategies; 
 Assessing the current credit quality based on credit quality trends; and 
 Determining the current position in the economic cycle. 
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The Group has developed an internal risk grade rating system, that indicates the credit risk on an 
individual basis for loans and advances to customers and investments carried at amortized cost. The 
internal risk grades consider a number of qualitative and quantitative factors, considering internal 
information and external circumstances impacting the borrower, or in the case of investments, of the 
issuer. The internal risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the probability of 
default for exposures. 
 
IFRS 9 requires the use of forward-looking information including reasonable and supportable 
forecasts of future economic conditions. The requirement to consider a range of economic scenarios 
and their possible impacts on impairment allowances is a subjective feature of the IFRS 9 ECL 
model. The Group continues to develop its capability to model a number of economic scenarios and 
capture the impact on credit losses to ensure the overall ECL represents a reasonable distribution of 
economic outcomes. To this end, the Bank considers the impact of various economic  
scenarios by segmenting its exposures subject to IFRS 9’s impairment requirements into forborne 
and non-forborne categories. 
 
In its ECL model, the Bank relies on a broad range of forward-looking information such as 
economic inputs, including: 
 
 GDP growth of The Bahamas 
 Unemployment rates of The Bahamas 
 Inflation rates of The Bahamas 
 
Limitations in the Bank’s IFRS 9 ECL model have previously been identified through the ongoing 
assessment and validation of the output of the model. In these circumstances, management makes 
appropriate adjustments to the Bank’s allowance for impairment losses to ensure the overall 
provision adequately reflects all material risks.  Refer to note 24 for additional disclosures related 
such risks. 

 

Post-retirement benefit obligation 

The Bank maintains a defined benefit plan as outlined in Note 2(t). Due to the long-term nature of 
pension plans, the calculation of benefit expenses and obligations depends on various assumptions 
such as discount rates, expected rates of return on assets, projected salary increases, retirement age, 
mortality and termination rates. Any difference between the actual experiences and actuarial 
assumptions will affect the benefit obligation and expense. 
 
The inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring the defined benefit obligation 
are detailed in Note 22. 
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2. Life insurance fund liability 
The inputs, assumptions and estimation techniques used in measuring the life insurance liability are 
detailed in Note 14. 
 

3. Classification of financial assets 

On an annual basis, management assesses the business models within which the financial assets are 
held. The assessment is made as to whether the contractual terms of a financial asset are solely 
payment of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
The assessment considerations are detailed in Note 2(e). 
 

4. Fair value of financial instruments 

IFRS 13 requires that the classification of financial instruments at fair value be determined by 
reference to the source of inputs used to derive the fair value. This classification uses the following 
three-level hierarchy: 
 
Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity 
can access at the measurement date. 
 
Level 2 - Valuation techniques based on observable inputs, either directly (i.e., as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e., derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using quoted market 
prices in active markets for similar instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in 
markets that are considered less than active; or other valuation techniques where all significant 
inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data. 
 
Level 3 - Valuation techniques using significant unobservable inputs. This category includes all 
instruments where the valuation technique includes inputs not based on observable data and 
unobservable inputs have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This category includes 
instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments where significant 
unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the 
instruments. 
 
Fair value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled, between 
knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. The best evidence of fair value is 
quoted price in an active market. In most cases, the Group’s financial instruments are not typically 
traded on an open market, and therefore management applies judgment to determine their fair value. 
 
Refer to note 8 for more information about the classification of fair values. 
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The following methods and assumptions have been used in determining fair value: 

 Cash and deposit with banks – The fair values of these financial instruments are assumed to 
approximate their carrying values due to their generally short-term nature or the repricing of 
interest rates on variable rate products. 

 Investments – The estimated fair value of the Group’s investments was determined based on 
their market bid price values. 

 Loans and advances to customers – The estimated fair value of loans and advances to customers 
was determined by valuing the receivables based on current market interest rates relative to the 
Group's interest rates. The carrying values of these financial instruments approximates their fair 
values. 

 Deposits from customers – The estimated fair value of deposits from customers was determined 
by valuing the deposits based on current market interest rates relative to the Group's interest 
rates.  The fair values of deposits from customers approximate their carrying values.   

 Other financial instruments – Due to their short-term maturity, the carrying values of these 
financial instruments approximate their fair values. 

 
Since the calculation of fair value is based on management’s estimates, which involve uncertainties, 
the actual fair value realised in a sale or immediate settlement of the instruments may differ from the 
estimated amount. 
 

 

4. Subsidiaries 
 

The Group has interests in the following entities: 
         Country of 
Name        Incorporation Shareholding 
Laurentide Insurance and Mortgage Company Limited (“Laurentide”) Bahamas 100% 
Laurentide Insurance Agency Limited     Bahamas 100% 
C.B. Holdings Co. Ltd.      Bahamas 100% 
C.B. Securities Ltd.       Bahamas 100% 
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5. Financial Instruments 

 
The following tables disclose the categories of financial instruments which are included in the line 
items in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position: 

 

 
  

 

 
 

Amortized Cost 

Designated as Fair 
Value Through 

Profit (Loss) Total 

FINANCIAL ASSETS 
  Cash and deposits with banks 264,223$               -$                      264,223$               

  Investments, net 720,364$               8,672$                   729,036$               

  Loans and advances to customers, net 786,245$               -$                      786,245$               

  Other assets -$                      -$                      -$                      

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 
  Deposits from customers 1,513,397$             -$                      1,513,397$             

  Lease liabilites 1,242$                   -$                      1,242$                   

  Other Liabilities 15,455$                 -$                      15,455$                 

2022

Amortized Cost 

Designated as Fair 
Value Through 

Profit (Loss) Total 

FINANCIAL ASSETS 

  Cash and deposits with banks 192,458$               -$                      192,458$               

  Investments, net 691,933$               6,924$                   698,857$               

  Loans and advances to customers, net 767,541$               -$                      767,541$               

  Other assets 2,502$                   -$                      2,502$                   

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

  Deposits from customers 1,462,218$             -$                      1,462,218$             

  Lease liabilites 1,369$                   -$                      1,369$                   

  Other liabilities 13,816$                 -$                      13,816$                 

2021
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The following table shows Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income 
information on financial instruments: 

 

 
 
 

6. Business Segments 
 

The following tables show financial information by business segment: 

2022 2021
Interest income, effective interest rate method 
   Loans and advances to customers, net 97,220$               108,093$              
   Investments, net 23,004                 24,497                  
   Other -                      1                          

120,224$             132,591$              
Interest expense 
   Deposits from customers 17,254$               17,105$                

Fees and other income 
   Deposits from customers 16,132                 14,188                  
   Loans and advances to customers, net FVTPL 6,308                   5,773                    
   Net change in unrealised gain on equity investment at FVTPL 629                     52                        

23,069$               20,013$                
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The entities within the Group operate within the same geographical area.  
 
Non-Bahamian dollar assets and liabilities which are not in the retail bank segment are not material and 
are therefore not allocated to business segments. 

Credit Real Insurance
Retail Life Estate Investment Agency
Bank Company Holding Holdings Operations Eliminations Consolidated

Income
External 128,227$         4,558$            -$                 -$                  -$                   -$                 132,785$            

   Internal (1,591)             (407)               3,375            673                468                (2,518)           -                        

Total Income 126,636$         4,151$            3,375$          673$              468$              (2,518)$         132,785$            

Total profit (loss)
Internal & external 73,662$           3,666$            1,219$          636$              213$              (3,475)$         75,921$             

Assets 1,837,242$      48,331$          32,265$        15,567$         4,254$            (104,430)$     1,833,229$         

Liabilities 1,562,194$      3,109$            316$             22$                13$                (20,219)$       1,545,435$         

Other Information
Interest expense 17,315$          -$                   138$            7$                 -$                  (206)$            17,254$             

Capital additions 1,026$            -$                   186$            -$                  -$                  -$                 1,212$               

Depreciation on right of use assets 586$               -$                   -$                -$                  -$                  -$                 586$                  
Other depreciation 2,863$            -$                   740$            -$                  -$                  -$                 3,603$               

2022

Credit Real Insurance
Retail Life Estate Investment Agency
Bank Company Holding Holdings Operations Eliminations Consolidated

Income
External 138,876$         1,245$            8$                -$                  -$                   -$                 140,129$            

   Internal 1,731              (192)               3,898            (4,622)            549                (1,364)           -                        

Total Income 140,607$         1,053$            3,906$          (4,622)$          549$              (1,364)$         140,129$            

Total profit 
Internal & external (25,469)$          1,115$            1,472$          (5,659)$          320$              (1,786)$         (30,007)$            

Assets 1,673,433$      45,508$          31,693$        14,984$         4,037$            (52,750)$       1,716,905$         

Liabilities 1,482,325$      1,125$            4,985$          75$                11$                (10,107)$       1,478,414$         

Other Information
Interest expense 14,963$          -$                   313$            1,000$           -$                  829$             17,105$             

Capital additions 1,989$            -$                   5,197$         -$                  -$                  -$                 7,186$               

Depreciation on right of use assets 661$               -$                   -$                -$                  -$                  -$                 661$                  
Other depreciation 3,006$            -$                   694$            -$                  -$                  -$                 3,700$               

2021
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7. Cash and Cash Equivalents 

 
 

The minimum reserve requirement comprises deposits placed with the Central Bank to meet statutory 
requirements of the Bank’s licenses and are not available for use in the Bank’s day-to-day operations. 
As such, these amounts are excluded from balances held with the Central Bank to arrive at cash and 
cash equivalents. All balances with the Central Bank are non-interest bearing. Cash and deposit balances 
disclosed above are recoverable within one year. 

 
The financial assets included in cash and cash equivalents are carried at amortized cost, which 
approximates the fair market value. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2022 2021
Cash on hand 23,220$      23,890$        
Deposits with banks 13,806        18,012          
Balances with The Central Bank of The Bahamas 227,197      150,556        

264,223      192,458        
Minimum reserve requirement (59,000)       (57,326)         

Cash and cash equivalents 205,223$    135,132$      
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8. Investments 

 
Investments are as follows: 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Gross Amount Maturity years Interest rates 

Bahamas Government Bahamian dollar debt 608,663$               2023-2037 2.50% - 4.88%
Bahamas Government related-debt 18,214                   2023-2035 4.25% - 7.00% 
United States Government debt 1,000                     2023-2024 6.25% - 7.50%
Bahamas Government United States dollar debt 25,248                   2023-2024 8.59% - 12.62%
United States treasury bills 64,167                   2023 1.9% - 3.21%
Accrued interest receivable 6,310                     
Total investments measured at amortised cost 723,602                 
       Less: Allowance for ECL (3,238)                    
Total investments measured at amortised cost, net 720,364                 
Equity investments 8,672                     
Total investments, net 729,036$               

Gross Amount Maturity years Interest rates
Bahamas Government Bahamian dollar debt 668,562$               2022-2037 2.50% - 4.88%
Bahamas Government related-debt  18,232                   2023-2035 4.25% - 7.00%
United States Government debt 1,000                     2023-2024 6.25% - 7.50%
Accrued interest receivable 5,994                     

Total investments measured at amortised cost 693,788                 

      Less: Allowance for ECL (2,974)                    

Total investments measured at amortised cost, net 690,814                 
Equity investments 8,043                     

Total investments, net 698,857$               

2022

2021
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The table below shows the net carrying amount and fair value of investments.  
 

 
 
 

 
 

Investments, measured at amortised cost,  categorized by maturity are as follows: 

2022 2021
Current (due in one year) 354,066$           417,107$            
Non-current (due after one year) 366,298             273,707              

720,364$           690,814$            

2022

Net Carrying amount Fair Value 
Bahamas Government Bahamian dollar debt 605,715$               607,149$        
Bahamas Government related-debt 18,039                   18,214           
United States Government debt 1,000                     1,036             
Bahamas Government United States dollar debt 25,133                   25,248           
United States treasury bills 64,167                   64,167           
Equity investments 8,672                     8,672             
Accrued interest receivable 6,310                     6,310             
Total investments, net 729,036$               730,796$        

2021

Net Carrying amount Fair Value 
Bahamas Government Bahamian dollar debt 665,762$               668,696$        
Bahamas Government related-debt  18,058                   18,232           
United States Government debt 1,000                     1,149             
Equity investments 8,043                     8,043             
Accrued interest receivable 5,994                     5,994             
Total investments, net 698,857$               702,114$        
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The table below shows the fair value hierarchy of investments. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 
 

 
As of December 31, 2022 the majority of the Group’s investments in Bahamas Government debt, comprise 
Bahamas Government Registered Stock and Bahamas Government Treasury Bills.  
 
Other investments include Bahamas Government-related debt such as securities issued by the Bahamas 
Mortgage Corporation, The University of The Bahamas, The Bridge Authority and The Clifton Heritage. 
There is not a very active market for these investments. Primary brokers of these Government-related debt 
trade similar instruments at par value.   
 
As at December 31, 2022, the Group held equity securities as FVTPL totaling $8.67 million (2021: $8.04 
million). The Group’s common share holdings in MasterCard Incorporated account for the majority of its 
equity investments. These shares are carried at fair value with any resulting gains or losses recorded in the 
Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income. During 2022 the Group’s 
Mastercard share holdings were converted from class B shares to class A shares. The conversion from 
class B to class A shares resulted in an increase in unrealised gains of $867 thousand at the time of 
conversion due to the elimination of an illiquidity premium attached to the class B shares. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 
Bahamas Government Bahamian dollar debt -$               607,149$          -$        -$         668,696$    -$      

Bahamas Government related-debt  -                 18,214              -          -           18,232       -        

United States Government debt 1,036              -                   -          1,149        -             -        
Equity investments 8,672              -                   -          8,043        -             -        
United States treasury bills 64,167            -                   -          -           -             -        
Bahamas Government United States dollar debt -                 25,248              -          -           -             -        

20212022
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9. Loans and Advances to Customers, net 

 
Loans and advances to customers are as follows: 

 

 
 

Included within the carrying amount of gross loans and advances to customers are accrued interest and 
late fees amounting to $10.6 million (2021: $14.1 million), and effective interest rate adjustments of $4.6 
million (2021: $3.4 million), the latter principally comprising deferred fees and other direct costs 
incurred to originate loans. 

The effective interest rate yield earned for the year ended December 31, 2022, is 11.67% (2021: 
11.91%). Interest rates on loans outstanding at December 31, 2022 and 2021 range from 2% - 16.25% 
per annum. 
 
Loans and advances to customers are classified as Level 3 financial instruments. 

 
 
 
 
 
 

2022 2021
Residential mortgage 161,186$                         168,318$   
Business 22,635                             20,968       
Personal 615,176                           636,273     
Credit card 34,334                             34,738       
Government 28,895                             39,116       

862,226                           899,413     
Less: Allowance for ECL (75,981)                            (131,872)    

Loans and advances to customers, net 786,245$                         767,541$   

Loans and advances to customer categorized by maturity are as follows: 

2022 2021
Current (due within one year) 128,211$                         61,192$     
Non-current (due after one year) 658,034                           706,349     

786,245$                         767,541$   
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Movement in Allowance for ECL: 
 

 
 

 
10. Other Assets 

 
The composition of other assets is as follows: 

 

 

The pension asset comprises the net asset position of the defined benefit plan as disclosed in Note 22. 
The net pension asset is not expected to be recovered within one year. All other assets are expected to be 
recovered within one year. 

 

 

Balance at the Beginning of Year 
Loans 

Written off Recoveries 
Impairment 

(Reversals) /Losses
Balance at the End of 

Year 
Residential mortgage 13,208$                                       (1,971)$          -$               (928)$                   10,309                      
Business 971                                              (142)              -                 574                      1,403                        
Personal 114,304                                       (50,391)          25,405        (27,302)                62,016                      
Credit card 3,022                                           (2,403)           1,431          100                      2,150                        
Government 367                                              -                -              (264)                     103
Total 131,872$                                     (54,907)$        26,836$       (27,820)$              75,981$                    

Balance at the Beginning of Year 
Loans 

Written off Recoveries 
Impairment 

(Reversals)/Losses
Balance at the End of 

Year 
Residential mortgage 15,415$                                       (2,884)$         -$               677$                    13,208$                    
Business 1,168                                          (2)                 -                 (195)                    971                          
Personal 96,317                                         (80,749)         9,097          89,639                 114,304                    
Credit card 3,200                                          (4,577)           460             3,939                   3,022                       
Government 480                                             -                   -                 (113)                    367                          
Total 116,580$                                     (88,212)$       9,557$        93,947$               131,872$                  

2022

2021

2022 2021
Net defined benefit asset 4,672$             4,005$            
Prepaid expenses 1,923               2,543              
Accounts receivable 67                    2,502              
Other 1,323               630                 

7,985$             9,680$            
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11. Right of Use Assets and Lease Liabilities 
 
The right of use assets are as follows: 

 

 
 
 

For the years ended December 31, 2022, and 2021, there were no direct costs incurred by the Group upon 
entering a lease. 

 
 
       
The lease liabilities are as follows: 
 

           
The incremental borrowing rate is 4.25% (2021: 4.25%) per annum. 

2022 2021
Opening net book value 1,301$            1,935$        

Net Additions 467 27               
Depreciation (586)               (661)            

Closing net book value 1,182$            1,301$        

2022 2021
Cost 2,346$            1,962$        

Accumulated depreciation (1,164)             (661)            

Closing net book value 1,182$            1,301$        

2022 2021
Opening book value 1,369$            1,935$        

Additions 460 27              
Finance cost on lease liabilities 51                  149             

Repayment of lease liabilities (638)               (742)           

Closing book value 1,242$            1,369$        

Of which is: 
2022 2021

    Current lease liabilities 700$              555$           
    Non-current lease liabilities 542                814             

1,242$            1,369$        
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12. Premises and Equipment 
  

The movement of premises and equipment are as follows: 

 

13. Deposits from Customers 
 

 
The composition of deposits from customers is as follows: 

 

 
 

Land/Site 
Improvements Buildings 

Leasehold 
Improvement

s 

Furniture 
Fittings & 

Equipment Total 

Cost 

  December 31, 2021  $              14,975  $    38,954  $          1,095  $             40,131  $      95,155 

  Additions               75                   1,137            1,212 

  Disposals                    (537)              (537)

December  31, 2022  $              14,975  $    39,029  $          1,095  $             40,731  $      95,830 

Accumulated Depreciation and Amortization 

  December 31, 2021                       795        13,838                 940                 32,514          48,087 

  Depreciation                         49             975                   28                   2,551            3,603 

 Disposal                    (418)              (418)

December  31, 2022  $                   844  $    14,813  $             968  $             34,647  $      51,272 

Net Book Value 

December  31, 2021  $              14,180  $    25,116  $             155  $               7,617  $      47,068 

December 31, 2022  $              14,131  $    24,216  $             127  $               6,084  $      44,558 

2022 2021
Demand deposits 269,426$           243,578$    
Savings accounts 509,072             475,571      
Certificates of deposit 734,899             743,069      

1,513,397$        1,462,218$  

Deposits from customers categorized by maturity are as follow: 

Current (due within one year) 1,036,096$        1,118,451$  
Non-current (due after one year) 477,301             343,767      

1,513,397$        1,462,218$  
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Management has determined that the fair value of deposits from customers approximates their carrying 
values. 
 
Included in deposits from customers is accrued interest payable to customers totaling $35.4 million 
(2021 : $32.7 million).   
 
Deposits from customers are classified as Level 3 financial instruments. 
  
Deposits carry fixed interest rates ranging from 0.00% to 6.25% (2021: 0:00% to 6.25%) per annum, 
but the fixed interest rates are determined based on market rates and can be adjusted at the respective 
maturities of the deposits based on changes in market rates. The weighted average interest rate incurred on 
deposits from customers as at December 31, 2022, was 1.16% (2021: 1.20%). 
 

14. Life Insurance Fund Liability 

The Group provides credit life insurance in respect of certain of its borrowers through Laurentide. 

The life insurance fund liability in respect of credit life insurance contracts is calculated as: 

i. The sum of the present value of expected future death claims, withdrawal claims and administrative 
expenses for single premium contracts, and 

 
ii. The sum of the present value of expected future death claims, withdrawal claims, commissions and 

administrative expenses, less expected future monthly premiums, for monthly premium contracts. 
 
An actuarial valuation of the life insurance fund liability was conducted as at December 31, 2022, by 
Oliver Wyman of Toronto, Canada. The valuation included a provision of $292 thousand (2021: $509 
thousand) for claims incurred but not yet reported. 
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The movement in the life insurance fund liability is as follows: 
 

  
    
    
    

    

    
    

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

2022 2021

Balance at beginning of the year 1,011$        1,012$        

Change in assumptions 32       44

Termination policies (280) (267)

Impact of aging 4 (107)

Change in IBNR (218)           345

New business 23              10

Change in unearned premium res 9                (26)             

Net change in insurance reserve (430)           (1)               

Balance at end of the year 581$           1,011$        

Balances at the end of the year are expected to be settled as follows:

Current (within one year) 342             595$           

Non-current (after one year) 239             416             

581$           1,011$        
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Actuarial Assumption Sensitivities 

The table below, with amounts stated as actual amounts, provides the impact of a 10% change in 
assumptions on mortality rates, policy lapse rates, loan interest rates, expenses and inflation: 

 

 
 

 
 

Management engaged an independent actuary to assist in determining the assumptions used. 
Management compares the assumptions recommended by the actuary to the Bank’s historical 
experience and other internal and external data when assessing the reasonableness of the assumptions 
recommended by the actuary. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

B$ %
Mortality Loan Expense Initial Ultimate Total Increase Increase

per Lapse Interest per Inflation Interest Interest Reserve over over
Scenario $1,000 Rate Rate Policy Rate Rate Rate (B$) Base Base
Base 2022 5.0 32% 14.02% $20.79 3.30% 3.45% 3.25% 78             
Lower Interest Rate 5.0 32% 14.02% $20.79 3.30% 3.11% 2.93% 78             0.40        0.4%
Mortality = 5.5 5.5 32% 14.02% $20.79 3.30% 3.45% 3.25% 97             19.00      25.0%
Lapse = 28.8% 5.0 29% 14.02% $20.79 3.30% 3.45% 3.25% 82             4.00        5.3%
Loan Interest = 12.62% 5.0 32% 12.62% $20.79 3.30% 3.45% 3.25% 78             0.50        0.6%
Expenses = 22.87 5.0 32% 14.02% $22.87 3.30% 3.45% 3.25% 96             18.00      22.7%
Inflation = 3.63% 5.0 32% 14.02% $20.79 3.63% 3.45% 3.25% 79             1.00        1.1%

2022

B$ %
Mortality Loan Expense Initial Ultimate Total Increase Increase

per Lapse Interest per Inflation Interest Interest Reserve over over
Scenario $1,000 Rate Rate Policy Rate Rate Rate (B$) Base Base
Base 2021 5.0 48% 15.50% $16.34 3.30% 3.45% 3.25% 299           
Lower Interest Rate 5.0 48% 15.50% $16.34 3.30% 3.11% 2.93% 300           1.00        0.4%
Mortality = 5.5 6.0 48% 15.50% $16.34 3.30% 3.45% 3.25% 328           29.00      9.7%
Lapse = 43.20% 5.0 43% 15.50% $16.34 3.30% 3.45% 3.25% 311           12.00      4.0%
Loan Interest = 17.05% 5.0 48% 17.05% $16.34 3.30% 3.45% 3.25% 300           1.00        0.2%
Expenses = 17.97 5.0 48% 15.50% $17.97 3.30% 3.45% 3.25% 314           15.00      4.9%
Inflation = 3.63% 5.0 48% 15.50% $16.34 3.63% 3.45% 3.25% 300           1.00        0.3%

2021
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15. Other Liabilities 

 
The composition of other liabilities is as follows: 
 

 
 

 

Accruals and accounts payable and Cashier’s cheques outstanding are expected to be settled within the 
next 12 months.  The “other” category in the table above is comprised of insurance and taxes payable 
and other miscellaneous liabilities. 

 

16. Share Capital 
 

The table below presents information about the common shares which were authorized, issued, and 
fully paid during 2022 and 2021: 
 

 
 
 
 
 

2022 2021
Accruals and accounts payable 5,516$               3,301$   
Cashier's cheques outstanding 5,674                 3,713     
Employee related 6,647                 567       

Other 12,378               6,235     

30,215$             13,816$ 

2022 2021

Authorised:

675,000,000 (2021: 675,000,000) shares of $0.00667 per share 4,500$            4,500$       

Issued and fully paid:

295,268,556 (2021: 295,268,556 ) shares of $0.00667 per share 1,968$            1,968$       

Share premium 22,911            26,363       
Less: 2,624,094 (2021: 4,474,120) shares held in treasury (9,384)             (14,718)      

Total 15,495$          13,613$     

Share capital 1,951$            1,946$       
Share premium 13,544            11,667       

15,495$          13,613$     
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The holdings of treasury shares are to fund the Group’s stock-based compensation plans and inject 
liquidity into the local market. 

During the year, the Group had sales of its treasury shares and repurchased its common shares through its 
subsidiary, C.B. Securities. Details of the purchases are disclosed in Note 21. 

During 2022 and 2021, the Group paid four quarterly common share dividends.  In the first and second 
quarters of 2022, the Group paid $0.01 per share in quarterly dividends.  In the third and fourth quarters 
of 2022, the Group paid $0.02 per share in quarterly dividends.  In 2022 the Group also paid extraordinary 
dividends of $0.04 per share. 

 
These payments totaled $29.27 million (2021: $11.58 million) in common share dividend payments. 

 
17. Earnings Per Share 
       

 
 

18. Employee share-based Payment Plans 
 

Stock Option Plan 
On May 16, 2007, the shareholders approved an employee stock option plan (the “Plan”) of 2 million 
shares for designated officers and management staff. The number of shares included in the Plan is 
amended each time there is a stock split. Currently, there are 18 million shares approved under the Plan. 
 
The main details of the Plan are as follows: 
 
a. Options will be granted annually to participants at the prevailing market price on the date of the 

grant. 
b. Options vest on a straight-line basis over three years. 
c. Vested options expire one year after the date of vesting. 
d. Options may only be exercised while in the employment of the Bank or subsidiary or affiliated 

companies unless otherwise approved by the Board. 
e. Exercised options are subject to a six-month restriction period before they can be transferred by the 

participant. 
f. Unless otherwise terminated by the Board, the Plan shall continue until the pool of common shares 

has been exhausted. 
 

2022 2021

Total profit/(loss) available to common shareholders 75,921$   (30,007)$   

Weighted average number of common shares (in thousands) 292,613   289,335    

Earnings/(loss) per share (expressed in dollars) 0.26$      (0.10)$       
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The Plan is being funded by CB Securities Ltd. purchasing shares from the market in advance of the 
options being exercised. The Bank did not recognize any expenses related to this equity- settled share-
based payment plan during 2022 or 2021. 
 
Other share-based payment plans 
Under the Bank’s employee share purchase plan, non-management staff may purchase the Bank’s shares 
at 90% of the closing market price on the date of grant for a restricted period each year. Employees’ 
ability to purchase shares is restricted to a percentage of their salary according to their position. Shares 
so purchased vest immediately but are released to the employee on payment for the shares. No shares 
were made available under this plan in 2022 and 2021. 
 
Shares to be exercised under the stock option plans as at December 31, 2022 are Nil (2021: Nil). Options 
available to be granted under the plans totaled 14,034,000 as of December 31, 2022, and 2021. 

 

19. Fees and Other Income 
 
Fees and other income derived from contracts with customers are as follows: 
 

 
 

20. General and Administrative Expenses 
 

General and administrative expenses are as follows: 
 

 

2022 2021
Loan and credit card fees, excluding 
commitment and origination fees 6,308$        5,773$    
Deposit account fees 6,838          6,324      
Debit card fees 5,902          4,937      
Foreign exchange 3,393          2,927      
Other 2,106          471        

24,547$      20,432$  

2022 2021
Staff costs 44,620$     35,340$      
Licenses and taxes (including premium taxes) 12,152       12,205        
Professional and service fees 8,210         7,424         
Occupancy 4,781         4,055         
Advertising 864            1,187         
Other 7,203         7,583         

77,830$     67,794$      
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Staff costs include pension costs of $1.71 million (2021: $2.2 million) of which $0.1 million (2021: 
$0.5 million) relates to the DB Provisions (see Note 22). Occupancy includes rental costs for leased 
properties (see Note 23).  Other general and administrative expenses comprise primarily of bank 
licensing fees, technology licensing fees and profession services fees. 
 

21. Related Parties Balances and Transactions 
 

The following table shows balances and transactions with related parties not disclosed elsewhere in 
these consolidated financial statements: 
 

 
  
 
 
Amounts included in loans and advances to customers that relate to residential mortgages and business 
loans are secured. Amounts related to personal loans and credit cards are unsecured.  Loans and 
advances to customers are granted at preferential interest rates which fall within the range disclosed in 
Note 9.  Allowances for ECL in respect of these balances are not material.  Deposits from customers are 
granted at preferential interest rates which fall within the range disclosed in Note 13.   
 

Compensation of Key Management Personnel 

The remuneration of Directors and other members of key management personnel, those persons having 
the authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Bank, in 
addition to Directors’ fees disclosed in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income is as follows: 

 

 

 

 

Key Other Key Other
Management Related Management Related

Personnel Parties Total Personnel Parties Total
$ $ $ $ $ $

Loans and advances to customers 3,319              553                  3,872                        3,370           61           3,431           
Deposits from customers 8,455              310,775            319,230                     28,907          271,176   300,083       
Other liabilities -                     43                    43                             -                  102          102              
Interest income 130                 32                    162                           126              8             134              
Interest expense 210                 8,624               8,834                        661              9,434       10,095         
General and administrative expense -                     540                  540                           -                  354          354              

Commitments under revolving credit lines 163                 977                  1,140                        541              473          1,014           

2022 2021
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Purchases and Sale of Shares from and to Subsidiary 
 
During the year, the Bank’s wholly-owned subsidiary C.B. Securities Ltd. purchased 327,304 of the 
Bank’s common shares for $1.19 million (2021: shares 89,884 or $0.3 million). C.B. Securities Ltd. 
holds 2,624,094 (2021: 3,425,169) of  the Bank’s shares which have a market value of approximately 
$9.4 million (2021: $13.6 million). 

During 2022, 1,127,819 shares (2021: 4,188,919) were sold to an unconsolidated related party for $3 
million (2021: $11 million) to facilitate dividend payments. 

 
22. Bank Pension Scheme 

 
The pension plan consists of the Defined Benefit Provisions (“DB Provisions”) and Defined 
Contribution Provisions (“DC Provisions”). 
 
DB Provisions 
The DB Provisions, which is closed to new members, provides pensions based on years of service, 
contributions and weighted average earnings at retirement. The Bank’s funding policy is to make 
monthly contributions to the DB Provisions based on triennial valuations. The Bank pays on demand to 
the DB Provisions such periodic contributions as may be required to meet the obligations of the DB 
Provisions. 
All employees in active employment of the Bank who had at least 3 years of service or had reached the 
age of 25, and who met the eligibility requirements were eligible for the DB Provisions. After October 
1, 2013, entry to the DB Provisions was closed to all employees. 
 
 
Assumptions applied to DB Provisions 
Discount rate: 
In accordance with IAS 19, the discount rate used is determined by reference to market yields at the end 
of the reporting period on high-quality local corporate bonds, or where there is no deep market in such 
bonds, by reference to market yields on long-term Bahamas Government bonds. Currencies and terms 
of bond yields used must be consistent with the currency and estimated term of the post- employment 
benefit obligations being discounted. 

2022 2021

 Short term benefits 5,659$       4,920$      

 Post employment benefits 632$         1,891$      

Other long term benefits 617$         644$         

6,908$       7,455$      



53 

  
COMMONWEALTH BANK LIMITED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with corresponding figures as at and 
for the year ended December 31, 2021 
 
(All amounts stated as actual amounts, except tabular amounts which are expressed in Bahamian $000s) 

 

 
As at the reporting date, the discount rate assumption for the DB Provisions plan is 5.75% (2021: 
5.75%). 
 
Increases in pensionable earnings: 
The DB Provisions sets the pension increase rate assumption in line with the expected general wage 
growth which is influenced by the inflation by which benefits are expected to increase in future years. 
Although influenced by the inflation rate, the DB Provision does not contractually state that increases 
will be in line with market inflation. The assumption for 2022 has remained unchanged at 1%. 
 
Mortality: 
The DB Provisions use the 1994 Uninsured Pensioners Mortality Table (UP-94) to determine the 
mortality rate of the plan members. The UP-94 mortality table was considered appropriate for expected 
mortality during 1994, however, the actual experience in the DB Provisions has proven too scarce to 
produce any credible experience. In instances where the actual experience is not credible, the use of UP-
94 is generally accepted. 
 
The Bank has considered the impact of COVID-19 on the mortality assumption and has deemed it 
unnecessary to alter its long-term assumptions. 

Rate of increase of future compensation: 
The ‘rate of increase in future compensation’ assumption of 3.5% remains unchanged from the prior 
year. 
 
Expenses: 
The expense assumption used in the calculation of the DB Provisions is $102,000 (2021: $102,283). 
The assumption is based on the average amount of the investment and administrative expenses in the 
DB Provisions over the past several years. 
 
The DB Provisions typically expose the Bank to the following actuarial risks: 
 
i. Investment risk: The DB Provisions comprises investments in Bahamian Government (and 

Government-related) securities and private securities. The present value of the DB Provisions liability 
is calculated using a discount rate of 5.75% (2021: 5.75%). If the return on assets is below the 
discount rate, it will create a deficit. 

 
ii. Interest risk: A decrease in the discount rate will increase the DB Provisions liability. 
 
iii. Longevity risk: The present value of the DB Provisions liability is calculated by reference to the best 

estimate of the mortality of participants both during and after their employment. An increase in the 
life expectancy of the DB Provisions participants will increase the DB Provisions’ liability. 

 
iv. Salary risk: The present value of the DB Provisions liability is calculated by reference to the future 

salaries of participants. As such, an increase in the salary of the participants will increase the DB 
Provisions’ liability. 
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An actuarial valuation of the DB Provisions was undertaken by Mercer (Canada) Limited, Toronto, 
Canada as at December 31, 2022. 
 
The following tables present information related to the Bank’s DB Provisions, including amounts 
recorded in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position and the components of defined benefit cost: 

 

 
 
 

  

2022 2021

Change in fair value of plan assets:

   Fair value of plan assets at beginning of year 28,170$      28,531$      

   Interest income 1,589          1,566          

   Actual return on plan assets 768             (693)            

   Administrative costs (91)             (87)             

   Employer contributions - -

   Participant contributions 73               66               

   Benefits paid (1,364)         (1,213)         
   Withdrawals from plan - -

   Fair value of plan assets at end of year 29,145$      28,170$      

2022 2021

Change in defined benefit obligation:

   Benefit obligation at beginning of year 24,165$      24,389$      

   Current employer service costs 232             275             

   Participant contributions 73               66               

   Interest cost 1,356          1,335          

   Withdrawals from plan -                 -                 

   Benefits paid (1,364)         (1,213)         

   Experience adjustment 11               (244)            
   Changes in financial assumptions -                 (443)            

   Benefit obligation at end of year 24,473$      24,165$      

   Benefit obligation at end of year 24,473$      24,165$      

   Fair value of plan assets at end of year (29,145)       (28,170)       

   Net defined benefit (asset) liability (4,672)$       (4,005)$       
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2022 2021

Net defined benefit (asset)  liability:

   Balance at beginning of year (4,005)$      (4,142)$      

   Defined benefit included in profit or loss 99              146            

   Remeasurement included in other comprehensive income (766)           (9)               
   Employer contributions -                -                

  Balance at end of year (4,672)$      (4,005)$      

Components of defined benefit cost:
   Current employer service costs 232$          275$          

   Interest cost on defined benefit obligation 1,356         1,335         

   Interest income on plan assets (1,586)        (1,566)        

   Administrative costs 97              102            

   Pension benefit expense included in staff costs 99$            146$          

2022 2021

Components of remeasurements:
   Changes in actuarial assumptions -$               (443)$          

   Experience adjustments (11)             (244)            

   Return on plan assets excluding interest income (755)            678             

   Remeasurements included in other comprehensive income (766)$          (9)$             

Weighted-average assumptions to determine defined benefit obligations:

   Discount rate 5.75% 5.75%

   Rate of pension increases 1.00% 1.00%

   Rate of increase in future compensation 3.50% 3.50%

   Mortality Table

UP 1994 
Fully 

generational

UP 1994 
Fully 

generational
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Actuarial assumption sensitivities: 
 
The discount rate is sensitive to changes in market conditions arising during the reporting period. 
 
The results of a 25 basis points increase or decrease over the actuarial assumptions used in the 
measurement of the defined benefit obligation and defined benefit expense are summarised in the table 
below: 

 

 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Weighted-average assumptions to determine defined benefit cost:

   Discount rate 5.75% 5.60%

   Rate of pension increases 1.00% 1.00%

   Rate of increase in future compensation 3.50% 3.50%

   Mortality Table
UP 1994 

Fully 
generational

UP 1994 
Fully 

generational

Discount

Rate Compensation Pension Mortality

Pension obligation 740$              150$               634$            544$            

Pension expense 61$               11$                 43$              36$              

2022

Discount

Rate Compensation Pension Mortality

Pension obligation 747$              139$               592$            508$            

Pension expense 61$               11$                 41$              35$              

2021
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The effect of assuming an increase of 1 year in life expectancy would increase the benefit obligation by 
$0.5 million (2021: $0.5 million) and pension benefits expense by $36,000  (2021:$35,000). 
 
The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation is 12.6 years (2021: 12.9 years). 
 
The above sensitivity analyses are based on a change in an assumption while holding all other 
assumptions constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions 
may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to significant 
actuarial assumptions the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with 
the projected unit credit method at the end of the year) has been applied when calculating the defined 
benefit liability recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position. 

The methods and types of assumptions used in preparing the sensitivity analysis did not change 
compared to the prior period. 

The DB Plan owns shares of the Bank valued at $5.05 million and $4.29 million as of December 31, 
2022 and 2021 respectively. 
 

The major categories of DB Provisions assets at December 31, 2022, are as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2022 2021

Balance at banks 845$                 1,307$         

Equity instruments 10,591              9,435           

Government bonds 13,095              12,771         

Other debt instruments 2,618                2,655           

Preferred equity 1,773                1,773           

Mutual Fund 75                    -                  

Other Assets 222                  229             
Liabilities (74)                   -                  

Fair value of plan assets 29,145$            28,170$       



58 

  
COMMONWEALTH BANK LIMITED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with corresponding figures as at and 
for the year ended December 31, 2021 
 
(All amounts stated as actual amounts, except tabular amounts which are expressed in Bahamian $000s) 

 

 
Given that the DB Provisions is currently overfunded, the Bank does not expect to make any 
contributions in 2023 in respect of the DB Provisions. 
 
DB Provisions funds held at the Bank and related interest expense are as follows: 
 

 
 
 
 
The remeasurement gain of defined benefit obligation included in other comprehensive income is as 
follows: 
 

  
 

 

DC Provisions 

The DC Provisions requires a defined contribution be made by the Bank for plan members. Eligibility 
in the DC Provisions includes all employees in active employment of the Bank who have at least 1 year 
of service or have reached the age of 25, and who met the eligibility requirements of the DC Provisions 
on or after October 1, 2013, or were hired after September 1, 2013. Contributions to the DC Provisions 
started on November 1, 2013, for eligible employees. 
 
Contributions to the DC Provisions are deposited into the plan account of each employee and 
administered by the pension plan’s investment manager. Employees may choose from three investment 
options, two of which are investment funds offered by the investment manager and the other being the 
CB Managed Fund. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

2022 2021

Deposits from customers 288$    132$    

Interest expense -$        -$        

2022 2021
DB Provisions gain 766$           9$           
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The amounts recognised as an expense under the DC Provisions are as follows: 

 
2022 2021 

     Pension expense included in staff 
costs  $       1,610   $   1,639  

   

 
The DC Provisions owns 171,889 (2021: 283,778) common shares of the Bank. These shares have a 
market value of $0.8 million (2021: $0.9 million) which represents 5.2% (2020: 4.9%) of the DC 
Provisions assets. 
 

23. Commitments and Contingencies 
 
To meet the financial needs of customers, the Bank enters into various irrevocable commitments.  These 
consist of mortgage commitments, letters of credit and other undrawn commitments to lend.  Letters of 
credit commit the Bank to make payments on behalf of customers in the event of a specific act. In 
addition, contingent liabilities arise because of litigation or similar unforeseen matters. 
 
Loan commitments 
 
In the ordinary course of business, the Bank had commitments as at the reporting date, as follows: 
 

  
 

Revolving credit lines are undrawn lending facilities that have been approved by the Bank to meet the 
requirements of customers. They are revocable at the Bank’s discretion. The amount shown represent 
the maximum amount of additional credit that the Bank could be obligated to extend. 
 
These financial instruments are subject to the Bank’s standard credit policies and procedures. 
 
  

        2022         2021
Mortgage commitments 9,203$        6,221$      
Revolving credit lines 26,037        30,671      

35,240$      36,892$    
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Capital commitments 
As at December 31, 2022, the Bank had capital commitments of $0.22 million (2021: $3.7 million). 
 
Lease commitments 
The future minimum rental payments required under non-cancellable operating leases as at December 31, 
2022, are as follows: 
 

 

 
 
 
Letters of credit 
 
The Bank has a standby letter of credit with  PNC Bank for US$ 3.3 million.  
 
Liability provisions 
 
The Group is involved in various legal proceedings covering a range of matters that arise in the ordinary 
course of business activities. As at December 31, 2022, and 2021, the Bank maintained related provisions 
totalling $0.2 million while the ruling is pending. These provisions are included in other liabilities in the 
employee-related line item (Note 15), and are estimates of the loss exposure. 
 

24.  Risk Management 
 

The Group’s risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, 
to set appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. The risk 
management policies and systems are reviewed regularly to reflect changes in market conditions and the 
Group’s activities. The Group, through its training and management standards and procedures, aims to 
develop a disciplined and constructive control environment in which all employees understand their roles 
and obligations.  

 

 

 

 

 

Year 2022 2021
2022 -             702          
2023 618            338          
2024 496            317          
2025 236            92            
2026 91              85            

Beyond 2026 48              -           

1,489$       1,534$      
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The Group’s Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with the Group’s 
risk management policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management 
framework in relation to the risks faced by the Group. The Group’s Audit Committee is assisted 
in its oversight role by the Group's Enterprise Risk Management function, which represents the 
second line of internal control defence; and Internal Audit function, which represents the third line 
of internal control defence. Internal Audit undertakes both regular and ad hoc reviews of risk 
management controls and procedures, the results of which are reported to the Group’s Audit 
Committee.  
 
The Group has exposures to the following risk:concentration risk, capital management risk, 
interest rate risk, credit risk, liquidity risk, insurance risk, currency and operational risk.  
 
a. Concentration risk   
Risk concentrations can arise through the Group’s exposure to individual counterparties, groups 
of individual counterparties or related entities; geographical locations; industry sectors; specific 
products; or service providers. The Group is exposed to the potential loss in value when a 
significant source of concentration risk moves in an unfavourable direction. 
 
The concentration of risks not specifically identified in other notes to these consolidated financial 
statements are as follows: 
 
 Geographical concentration - The Group has a concentration of risk in respect of the 

geographical area, as its operations, deposit customers; and significant assets are domiciled 
within the Commonwealth of The Bahamas. 

 
 Currency concentration - The Group has a concentration in respect of currency as its financial 

instruments are significantly denominated in a single currency, the Bahamian dollar. Its other 
significant currency exposure is to the United States dollar, which shows a history of being 
positively correlated to the Bahamian dollar. 

 
 Credit concentration - The Group has a concentration of credit risk when a significant 

proportion of borrowers are engaged in similar sectorial activities, and have economic features 
that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be similarly affected by 
changes in economic, political, or other conditions. A significant concentration of the Group’s 
borrowers are employees of The Government of The Bahamas or its related entities; and large 
hotel properties operating within the tourism and leisure sectors of The Commonwealth of 
The Bahamas. 
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 Product concentration – The Group categorizes its loans and advances to customers into loan 

types including personal, business, residential, and government; and revolving loans of credit 
cards and overdrafts. The Group has a significant concentration of personal loans and 
advances to customers. 

 
 Liquidity concentration – The Group has a concentration of liquidity risk in its reliance on a 

particular market to realize its liquid assets; and sources of funding for its lending activities. 
The concentration of liquidity may also arise in the contract terms of repayment for its 
financial assets and liabilities. A significant concentration of the Group’s investments is in 
financial instruments issued by the Government of The Bahamas or its related entities. Trading 
levels in the Commonwealth of The Bahamas, whether on BISX or over-the-counter markets, 
are generally low, and therefore, the ability of the Group to liquidate large positions may be 
difficult and prices received may be severely impacted. The Central Bank has created a 
secondary market for certain debt securities issued by the Government of The Bahamas, and 
prices currently being observed in this market and over-the-counter approximate the face 
values of such securities. 
 
The Bank manages its concentration of risks through its internal risk management policies 
and procedures, specifically stated in, but not limited to, its business continuity and recovery 
planning strategies; its setting of prudent concentration limits and targets for business 
performance; and its periodic stress testing of its liquidity and capital contingency plans. 

 

b. Capital management risk 

The Group manages its capital to ensure that it has a strong capital base to support the development of 
its business.  The capital maintained exceeds regulatory capital requirements.  The Group maximizes 
the return to shareholders through optimization of its debt and equity balance.  The Group’s risk 
management structure promotes making sound business decisions by balancing risk and reward.  It 
promotes revenue-generating activities that are consistent with the Group’s risk appetite, the Bank’s 
policies and the maximization of shareholder return. 

The capital structure of the Bank consists of equity attributable to the common equity holders of the 
Bank, comprising issued share capital, share premium and retained earnings as disclosed in Note 16.  
The Board’s Executive Committee reviews the capital structure at least annually.  As part of this review, 
the Executive Committee considers the cost of capital and the risks associated with each type of capital 
available to fund its business activities.  Based on recommendations of the Executive Committee, the 
Bank manages its capital structure through the payment of dividends, new share issues, (common or 
preference) and the redemption of preference shares, as applicable. 
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As prescribed by the Guidelines for the Management of Capital and the Calculation of Capital 
Adequacy issued by the Central Bank, the Bank is required to maintain a capital adequacy ratio of at 
least 17% (2021: 17%), which is calculated by dividing the Bank’s total eligible capital by its total risk-
weighted exposures. The Bank’s capital adequacy ratio for 2022 was 32% (2021: 27%). The Group’s 
capital is made up of Tier 1 capital only, which includes share capital and retained earnings. 

Regulatory capital requirements for Laurentide and Laurentide Insurance Agency Limited are managed 
through the Bank.  The Group’s strategy is unchanged from 2021. 

Laurentide is licensed to conduct long term insurance business under The Insurance Act 2005 (the 
“Act”). 
 
Under paragraph 60(1)A of The Insurance (General) Regulations, 2010 (the “Regulations”) an 
insurance company is required to have a minimum paid-up and unencumbered share capital of not less 
than $3 million.  As at December 31, 2022, Laurentide has $300,300 (2021: $300,300) in share capital 
and $2,750,000 (2021: $2,750,000) in contributed surplus.  Laurentide’s Board passed a resolution on 
December 6, 2011, making the contributed surplus non-distributable. 
 

Laurentide is required to establish and maintain a minimum statutory deposit of $2 million, such deposit 
to be held in trust under section 43(2) of the Act and paragraph 62 of the Regulations.  The LIM 
(Laurentide Insurance Management) Statutory Reserve Trust was established on December 20, 2011, 
with assets valued at $2,289,300 as at December 31, 2022 (2021: $2,289,300). 

Laurentide is required to maintain a solvency margin under paragraph 90 of the Regulations.  For the 
Regulations, the margin of solvency means the excess of the value of its admissible assets over the 
amount of its liabilities.  The required margin of solvency is the greater of (a) twenty percent of the 
premium income, including annuity premiums, in its last financial year; or (b) five hundred thousand 
dollars, plus the minimum amount of capital required.  As at December 31, 2022, the minimum margin 
of solvency was $959,576 (2021: $1,303,768).  Laurentide’s solvency margin at December 31, 2022 
was $45,222,187 (2021: $44,378,748) resulting in a surplus of $44,262,611 (2021: $43,074,980). 

Paragraph 68 of the Regulations stipulates that of the value of the admissible assets which Laurentide 
must at any time have to maintain the minimum margin of solvency required by the Act, at least sixty 
percent shall be in the form of qualifying assets.   

As at December 31, 2022, Laurentide had $40,799,376 (2021: $42,907,556) in qualifying assets and 
$40,799,376  (2021: $42,907,556) in admissible assets as defined under paragraphs 70 and 72 of the 
Regulations, respectively. 
 
During the year, the Group complied with all externally imposed capital requirements. 
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c. Interest rate risk  
Interest rate risk is the potential for a negative impact on the Consolidated Statement of Financial 
Position and/or Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income arising 
from adverse changes in the value of financial instruments as a result of changes in interest rates. 
 
Interest rate risk or interest rate sensitivity results primarily from differences in the repricing dates of 
assets and liabilities.  Interest rate risk exposures or “gaps” may produce favorable or unfavorable 
effects on interest margins depending on the nature of the gap and the direction of interest rate 
movement and/or the expected volatility of those interest rates.  When assets have a shorter average 
maturity than liabilities, an increase in interest rates would have a positive impact on net interest 
margins, and conversely, if more liabilities than assets mature or are repriced in a particular time 
interval then a negative impact on net interest margin would result.  
  
The consolidated gap position shows more assets than liabilities repriced in periods greater than one 
year.  This is a typical position for a financial institution with a large personal customer base.   
 

The Group manages its interest rate sensitivity gaps primarily by matching the maturity and repricing 
terms of its assets and liabilities. The Bank’s interest-bearing financial liabilities, which are primarily 
its deposits to customers, are not linked to market interest rates and are set by management’s interest 
rate schedule and can be reset following the maturity of any customer deposit. The interest rate schedule 
is reviewed periodically by the Bank’s Asset-Liability Management Committee, and approved by the 
Board of Directors.  The Bank’s loan portfolio is generally not linked to market rates, except for 
mortgage loans with variable interest rates linked to the Bahamian dollar prime and can be reset 
following the maturity or restructure of any mortgage loan. Loan product interest rates are set by 
management’s interest rate schedule. The interest rate schedule is reviewed periodically by the Bank’s 
Asset-Liability Management Committee, and approved by the Board of Directors. The Group’s 
investment portfolio is generally linked to market interest rates, and the Group does not attempt to 
hedge specifically against the impact of changes in market interest rates, as it manages by tactical 
allocation across instrument tenors and cash holdings. The Bank analyzes its interest rate exposure on 
a dynamic basis. Various scenarios are simulated taking into consideration changes in interest rates. 
Based on these scenarios, the Bank calculates the impact on profit and loss of a defined interest rate 
shift. The following table sets out the Group’s interest rate risk exposure as at December 31, 2022, 
which represents the Group’s risk exposure at this point only. 

 
Interest Rate Sensitivity 
 
If market interest rates increase/decrease by 50 basis points and all other variables remain constant, the 
Group’s profit over the next 12 months is estimated to increase/decrease by $424K (2021: $504k). 
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d. Credit risk  
Credit and counterparty risk is the potential for loss due to the failure of a  borrower, endorser, guarantor 
or counterparty to repay a loan or honour a financial obligation.  This is the most significant measurable 
risk faced by the Group. 
 
 
 
 
 

Repricing date of interest sensitive instruments Non interest

As of December 31, 2022 Within 3 Months 3 - 12 months Over 1 - 5 Years Over 5 years rate sensitive Total

Assets

Cash and deposits with banks -$                         -$                    -$                       -$                      264,223$      264,223$            

Investments, net 208,064               141,985           197,383             173,879             7,725            729,036              

Loans and advances to customers, net 32,053                 96,158             297,828             360,206             -                    786,245              
Other assets -                           -                      -                         -                        -                    -                          

Total financial assets 240,117$             238,143$         495,211$           534,085$           271,948$      1,779,504$         

Liabilities

Deposits from customers 607,918$             158,752$         266,302$           210,999$           269,426$      1,513,397$         

Lease liabilities -                           -                      1,242                 -                        -                    1,242                  

Other liabilities -                           -                      -                         -                        15,455          15,455                

Total financial liabilities 607,918$             158,752$         267,544$           210,999$           284,881$      1,530,094$         

Interest Rate Sensitivity Gap (367,801)$            79,391$           227,667$           323,086$           

Repricing date of interest sensitive instruments Non interest

As of December 31, 2021 Within 3 Months 3 - 12 months Over 1 - 5 Years Over 5 years rate sensitive Total

Assets

Cash and deposits with banks -$                    -$                       -$                      192,458$      192,458$            

Investments, net 336,848               75,816             93,757               184,223             8,043            698,687              

Loans and advances to customers, net 61,165                 10,597             167,388             528,392             -                    767,542              

Other assets -                           5,675               -                         -                        4,005            9,680                  

Total financial assets 398,013$             92,088$           261,145$           712,615$           204,506$      1,668,367$         

Liabilities

Deposits from customers 713,773$             161,100$         244,390$           99,377$             243,578$      1,462,218$         

Other liabilities -                           -                      -                         -                        13,816          13,816                

Lease liabilities -                           -                      1,369                 -                        -                    1,369                  

Total financial liabilities 713,773$             161,100$         245,759$           99,377$             257,394$      1,477,403$         

Interest Rate Sensitivity Gap (315,760)$            (69,012)$         15,386$             613,238$           
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The Bank’s credit policies are designed to maximize the risk/return trade-off.  The Bank’s credit 
policies, including authorized lending limits, are based on segregation of authority and centralized 
management approval with a periodic independent review by the Bank’s Internal Audit department. 
Consumer credit is assessed and authorized in branches within credit policies established by the Bank.  
Credit scoring systems are used to ensure that these policies are consistently applied across the Bank.  
A key factor in the Bank managing and constraining its credit risk exposure is the close review and 
follow up of its credit portfolios to quickly identify indications of potential failure to perform according 
to the terms of the contract and to take the appropriate steps to maintain or restore these accounts to 
performing according to the terms of the contracts. 
                                                                                                                                                                                                     
The Group places its deposits with banks in good standing with the Central Bank.   

Expected Credit Loss Measurement 

Expected credit loss is the discounted product of the probability of default (“PD”), loss given default 
(“LGD”) and exposure at default (“EAD”) parameters defined as follows: 
 
 PD – The estimate of the likelihood of default over a given period.  

 
 LGD – The estimate of the loss arising on default. It is based on the difference between the 

contractual cash flows due and those that the lender would expect to receive, including discounted 
cash flows from any collateral. LGD is expressed as a percentage of the EAD.  

 
 EAD – The estimate of the exposure at a future default date, taking into account expected changes 

in the exposure after the reporting date, including repayments of principal and interest, and 
expected drawdowns on committed facilities.  

 
Except where specifically indicated for a class of financial assets, the ECL method is applied 
consistently across loans and advances to customers, and investments. 
 
For loans and advances to customers, excluding those exposures where the counterparty is the 
Government of The Bahamas, the Bank uses a Point-in-Time (“PIT”) analysis while having regard to 
historical loss data forward-looking macro-economic data.  
 
The lifetime PD of these exposures is developed by applying a maturity profile to the current 12-month 
PD. The maturity profile looks at how defaults develop on a portfolio from the point of initial 
recognition throughout the lifetime of the loan. PDs are then adjusted for IFRS 9 to incorporate forward-
looking information. This is repeated for each economic scenario defined by the Bank.  
 
For exposures (including both loans and advances to customers, and investments) where the counter-
party is the Government of The Bahamas, the Bank uses the historical 12-month PD and lifetime PD 
of the counter-party’s credit rating published by credit rating agencies which are then adjusted for IFRS 
9 to incorporate forward-looking information.  
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The table below shows the average lifetime PD for financial instruments in which ECL amounts are 
recognised. 
 

 
 
 
Included in the average lifetime PD for credit cards are overdrafts and guarantees.  
 
The estimate of expected cash shortfalls reflects the cash flows expected from collateral and other credit 
enhancements that are part of the contractual terms and are not recognised separately by the Bank (e.g. 
properties collateralized for mortgage loans are not recognised on the Bank’s balance sheet).  
 

Such estimates reflect the amount and timing of cash flows that are expected from foreclosure on the 
collateral less the costs of obtaining and selling the collateral, irrespective of whether foreclosure is 
probable. 

Any cash flows that are expected from the realisation of the collateral beyond the contractual maturity 
of the contract are included in ECL modelling.  

Where appropriate, the Bank considers the time to sell and the cost to sell.  Further, “Forced Sale” 
discounts are also included to account for reductions in value due to forced sales and deterioration of 
collateral held.     

In addition, the cost directly associated with realising collateral forms part of the ECL calculation.  In 
the short term, this is set by the Bank’s executive management and is based on their understanding of 
the market, the economic environment and the Group’s experience.  This is expressed as a discount 
factor (nominal value).  The Bank also includes recovery cash flow assumptions in LGD which are 
discounted back to the point of default at the original effective interest rate.   

For government loans and securities, the Bank used its judgment in the assessment of a significant 
increase in risk and migration of balances to progressive stages.  The assessment takes into 
consideration the risk rating of external agencies (i.e. Moody’s) and the economic environment of the 
country.   
 
 
 
 
 
 

Average Lifetime PD
2022 2021

Residential mortgage 54% 67%
Business 43% 55%
Personal 29% 45%
Credit card 47% 50%
Government 13% 11%
Investments 9% 5%
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Internal Risk Ratings 

Internal risk ratings are assigned according to the Group’s risk management framework.  Changes in 
internal risk ratings are primarily reflected in the PD parameters, which are estimated based on the 
Group’s historical loss experience at the relevant risk segment or risk rating level, adjusted for forward-
looking information. 
 
Each credit facility is individually risk-rated (from 1 – being the lowest to 8 – being the highest) 
concerning its probable performance. Risk factors, which are based on the Group’s current policy and 
procedures, are used to determine each loan’s risk rating.  These risk factors are assigned scoring based 
on a tiered approach with a higher score being assigned as risk factors increase.  The factors and the 
range score assigned to them are then used to calculate a single risk rating.   
 

Weighting of Expected Credit Loss 

A multiple probability model has been adopted by the Group.  The model was developed to allow 
scenario analysis and management overlay where deemed necessary (this applies to the weighting 
assigned to the estimates grouping).  Three calculations for ECL estimates are generated representing 
base case, best case and worse case. Once an ECL calculation has been developed for each scenario, a 
weight is applied to each estimate based on the likelihood of occurrence to arrive at a final weighted 
ECL. The level of estimation uncertainty has increased since December 31, 2020, as a result of the 
economic and social disruption caused by the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic. 

 

This includes significant judgments relating to:  

 
 The selection and weighting of macro-economic scenarios; 
 The effect of government and other support measures implemented to mitigate the negative 

economic impact; 
 The uncertainty over the duration and severity of the effect of the pandemic as well as the timing 

and duration of the recovery; 
 The assessment of the impact of the macro-economic scenarios on the ECL given the unavailability 

of historical information for a similar event; 
 The identification and assessment of significant increases in credit risk and impairment especially 

for loan facilities where borrowers have received support under various government and bank 
support schemes; and  

 The identification and assessment of significant increases in credit risk and impairment especially 
for exposures where the counterparty’s credit rating has deteriorated significantly since initial 
recognition. 
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The weighting assigned to each scenario as at December 31, 2022 and December 31, 2021, was as 
follows: 

 

 
 
 

 
 
 
Significant Increases in Credit Risk and Incorporation of forward-looking indicators  

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk 
for exposures since initial recognition by comparing the risk of a default occurring over the remaining 
expected life from the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The assessment considers 
borrower-specific quantitative and qualitative information without consideration of collateral, and the 
impact of forward-looking macroeconomic factors.  

The common assessment for significant increases in credit risk on loan portfolios normally includes 
macroeconomic outlook, management judgment, and delinquency and monitoring. Forward-looking 
macroeconomic factors are considered as part of the macroeconomic outlook. The importance and 
relevance of each specific macroeconomic factor depend on the type of product, characteristics of the 
financial instruments and the borrower.  
 
 
 

December 31, 2022

Base Best Worst

Residential 65% 5% 30%

Business 65% 5% 30%

Personal 65% 5% 30%
Credit Card 100% 0% 0%
Government 65% 5% 30%
Investments 65% 5% 30%

December 31, 2021
Base Best Worst

Residential 70% 0% 30%
Business 70% 0% 30%
Personal 70% 0% 30%

Credit Card 100% 0% 0%
Government 70% 0% 30%

Investments 70% 0% 30%
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The ECL model may not always be able to capture all reasonable and supportable information that may 
indicate a significant increase in credit risk. Qualitative factors may be assessed to supplement the gap. 
Examples of this include changes in adjudication criteria for a particular group of borrowers, changes 
in portfolio composition and natural disasters impacting the portfolio. With regards to delinquency and 
monitoring, there is a rebuttable presumption that the credit risk of the financial instrument has 
increased since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days overdue. 

In October 2022, the international credit rating agency, Moody’s Corporation (“Moody’s”), 
downgraded The Bahamas' credit rating to B1 from Ba3, while also improving its economic outlook 
for The Bahamas from negative to stable.  During the prior year, on September 17, 2021, Moody’s 
reviewed The Bahamas’ credit rating and downgraded The Bahamas from Ba2 to Ba3. 
 
S&P Global Inc. (“S&P”), in November 2022, affirmed its 2021 sovereign credit ratings on The 
Bahamas, with a stable outlook. During the prior year, on November 12, 2021, S&P reviewed The 
Bahamas’ credit rating and downgraded it from BB- to B+.  
 
 
The credit ratings of B1 and B+ of Moody’s and S&P respectively are both considered to be non-
investment grade ratings. The aforementioned credit risk downgrades are considered indicative of a 
SICR for certain exposures (including both loans and advances to customers, and investments) which 
originated or were acquired by the Bank before October 2022, and this has resulted in certain exposures 
being classified in stage 2 with a lifetime ECL being recognized. 
 
Maximum Exposure to Credit Risk 
For financial assets recognised on the Consolidated Statement of Financial Position, the exposure to 
credit risk generally equals their carrying amount.  For standby letters of credit, the maximum exposure 
to credit risk is the maximum amount that the Bank would have to pay if the standby letters of credit 
are called upon. 
 
For mortgage commitments and revolving credit lines that are irrevocable over the life of the respective 
facilities, the maximum exposure to credit risk is the full amount of the committed facilities. 
 
 
The following tables contains an analysis of the credit risk exposure of financial assets for which an 
ECL allowance is recognised.  
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Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

Gross carrying amount - Loans and advances to customers

Residential mortgage 85,412$            45,264$            30,510$            161,186$           

Business 14,384              4,901                3,350                22,635$            
Personal 482,003            102,098            31,075              615,176$           
Credit card 30,572              2,744                1,018                34,334$            
Government -                       28,895              -                       28,895$            

612,371            183,902            65,953              862,226            

Allowance for ECL

Residential mortgage 189                   1,492                8,628                10,309              

Business -                       75                     1,328                1,403                
Personal 14,643              22,151              25,222              62,016              
Credit card 1,276                349                   525                   2,150                
Government -                       103                   -                       103                   

16,108              24,170              35,703              75,981              
Carrying amount

Residential mortgage 85,223              43,772              21,882              150,877            

Business 14,384              4,826                2,022                21,232              
Personal 467,360            79,947              5,853                553,160            
Credit card 29,296              2,395                493                   32,184              

Government -                       28,792              -                       28,792              

596,263$           159,732$           30,250$            786,245$           

2022
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Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross carrying amount - Loans and advances to customers

Residential mortgage 79,968$             50,538$             37,812$             168,318$           
Business 12,366               4,305                 4,297                 20,968               
Personal 471,260             68,373               96,640               636,273             
Credit card 29,173               2,597                 2,968                 34,738               

Government -                        39,116               -                        39,116               

592,767             164,929             141,717             899,413             
Allowance for ECL

Residential mortgage 827                   3,558                 8,823                 13,208               
Business -                        81                     890                   971                   
Personal 11,141               27,904               75,259               114,304             
Credit card 1,187                 333                   1,502                 3,022                 

Government -                        367                   -                        367                   

13,155               32,243               86,474               131,872             
Carrying amount

Residential mortgage 79,141               46,980               28,989               155,110             
Business 12,366               4,224                 3,407                 19,997               
Personal 460,119             40,469               21,381               521,969             
Credit card 27,986               2,264                 1,466                 31,716               
Government -                        38,749               -                        38,749               

579,612$           132,686$           55,243$             767,541$           

2021
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Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Gross carrying amount - Investments

Bahamas Government Bahamian Dollar Debt 463,873$                     150,181$    -$                    614,054$           
Bahamas Government Related Debt 7,860                           10,634        -                      18,494$             
United States Government Bonds 1,016                           -                -                      1,016$               

Bahamas Government United States Dollar Debt 9,991                           15,341        -                      25,332$             

United States Government Treasury Bills 64,706                         -                -                      64,706$             

547,446                       176,156      -                      723,602             

Impairment allowances
Bahamas Government Bahamian Dollar Debt 926                             2,022         -                      2,948                 
Bahamas Government Related Debt 16                               159            -                      175                    
United States Government Bonds -                                  -                -                      -                        

Bahamas Government United States Dollar Debt 19                               96              -                      115                    
United States Government Treasury Bills -                                  -                -                      -                        

961                             2,277         -                      3,238                 

Carrying amount
Bahamas Government Bahamian Dollar Debt 462,947                       148,159      -                      611,106             
Bahamas Government Related Debt 7,844                           10,475        -                      18,319               

United States Government Bonds 1,016                           -                -                      1,016                 
Bahamas Government United States Dollar Debt 9,972                           15,245        -                      25,217               

United States Government Treasury Bills 64,706                         -                -                      64,706               
546,485                       173,879      -                      720,364              

2022
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Transfers between Stages 
 
At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on its financial assets has increased 
significantly since initial recognition.  The assessment of whether an asset is in stage 1 or 2 considers 
the relative change in the probability of default occurring over the expected life of the instrument, and 
is not assessed based on the change in the amount of the expected credit losses.  This involves setting 
quantitative tests combined with additional indicators such as credit risk classification and other 
observable inputs.    
 
Transfers between Stages 1 and 2 are based on the assessment of significant increases in credit risk 
relative to initial recognition.  The impact of moving from 12-month expected credit losses to lifetime 
expected credit losses, or vice versa, varies by portfolio and is dependent on the expected remaining 
life at the date of the transfer. Stage transfers may result in significant fluctuations in the Group’s 
expected credit losses. 
 
 
 
 

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total 

Gross carrying amount - Investments 

     Bahamas Government Bahamian dollar debt 392,070$       282,191$       -$           674,261$       

     Bahamas Government related-debt -                18,512           -             18,512           

     United States Government debt 1,015            -                -             1,015            

393,085         300,703         -             693,788         

Allowance for ECL
     Bahamas Government Bahamian dollar debt 156               2,645            -             2,801            

     Bahamas Government related-debt -                173               -             173               

     United States Government debt -                -                -             -                

156               2,818            -             2,974            

Carrying amount 

     Bahamas Government Bahamian dollar debt 391,914         279,546         -             671,460         

     Bahamas Government related-debt -                   18,339           -             18,339           

     United States Government debt 1,015            -                   -             1,015            

392,929         297,885         -                 690,814         

2021
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Movement in Allowance for ECL by Stage 
The allowance for ECL recognised in the period is impacted by a variety of factors, including but not 
limited to: 
 
 Transfers between Stage 1 and 2 or 3 due to financial assets experiencing significant increases (or 

decreases) in credit risk or becoming credit-impaired in the period, and the consequent “step up” 
(or “step down”) between 12-month and lifetime ECL; 

 
 Additional allowances for new financial assets recognised during the period, as well as releases for 

financials assets de-recognised in the period; 
 
 Impact on the measurement of ECL due to changes in PDs, EADs, and LGDs in the period, arising 

from regular refreshing of inputs to the model; 
 
 Impacts on the measurement of ECL due to changes made to models and assumptions;  
 
 Financial assets de-recognised during the period and write-offs of allowances related to the assets 

that were written off during the period; and 
 
 The number of days past due of a personal loan facility, as the LGD increases as the number of 

days past due increases.  
  



76 

  
COMMONWEALTH BANK LIMITED 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
 
Year ended December 31, 2022, with corresponding figures as at and 
for the year ended December 31, 2021 
 
(All amounts stated as actual amounts, except tabular amounts which are expressed in Bahamian $000s) 

 

 
 
The following tables explain the changes in the allowance for ECL by portfolio between the beginning 
and the end of the annual period due to these factors. 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Investments Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Allowance for ECL as at January 1, 2021 227$                            3,693$        -$                    3,920$               
Transfers:

Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (226)                            226            -                      -                        

New financial assets originated 148                             -                -                      148                    

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs 7                                 (1,101)        -                      (1,094)               

Financial assets derecognised -                                  -                -                      -                        

Allowance for ECL as at December 31, 2021 156$                            2,818$        -$                    2,974$               

Transfers:
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 533                             (533)           -                      -                        

New financial assets originated 758                             162            -                      920                    

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs (412)                            (71)             -                      (483)                  

Financial assets derecognised (74)                              (99)             -                      (173)                  

Allowance for ECL as at December 31, 2022 961$                            2,277$        -$                    3,238$               

2021 and 2022
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Residential mortgage Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Allowance for ECL as at January 1, 2021 929$                 3,343$              11,143$            15,415$            
Transfers:

Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (499)                  499                   -                       -                       
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (145)                  -                       145                   -                       
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 23                     (23)                   -                       -                       
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 -                       (990)                  990                   -                       
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 9                       -                       (9)                     -                       
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 -                       248 (248)                  -                       

New financial assets originated -                       -                       21                     21                     

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs 538                   535                   (888)                  185                   

Financial assets derecognised/written-off (28)                   (54)                   (2,331)               (2,413)               

Allowance for ECL as at December 31, 2021 827$                 3,558$              8,823$              13,208$            

Transfers:
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (22)                   22                     -                       -                       
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (13)                   -                       13                     -                       
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 25                     (25)                   -                       -                       
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 -                       (37)                   37                     -                       
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 23                     -                       (23)                   -                       
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 -                       127                   (127)                  -                       

New financial assets originated 59                     -                       28                     87                     

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs (682)                  (1,784)               2,563                97                     

Financial assets derecognised/written-off (28)                   (369)                  (2,686)               (3,083)               

Allowance for ECL as at December 31, 2022 189$                 1,492$              8,628$              10,309$            

2022 and 2021
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Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Business
Allowance for ECL as at January 1, 2021 806$                 245$                 117$                 1,168$              
Transfers from Stage 2 to 1 24$                   (24)$                  -$                     -$                     
Transfers from Stage 2 to 3 -$                     (26)$                  26$                   -$                     
Transfers from Stage 3 to 1 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     
Transfers from Stage 3 to 2 -$                     -$                     -$                     -$                     

New financial assets originated -                       1,758                177                   1,935                

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs (812)                  (1,864)               611                   (2,065)               

Financial assets derecognised/written-off (18)                   (8)                     (41)                   (67)                   

Allowance for ECL as at December 31, 2021 -$                     81$                   890$                 971$                 

New financial assets originated -                       9                       -                       9                       

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs -                       (15)                   469                   454                   

Financial assets derecognised/written-off -                       -                       (31)                   (31)                   

Allowance for ECL as at December 31, 2022 -$                     75$                   1,328$              1,403$              

2022 and 2021
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Personal Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Allowance for ECL as at January 1, 2021 41,774$            27,955$            26,588$            96,317$            
Transfers:

Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (2,890)               2,890                -                       -                       
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (7,937)               -                       7,937                -                       
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 3,785                (3,785)               -                       -                       
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 -                       (6,053)               6,053                -                       
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 2,048                -                       (2,048)               -                       
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 -                       2,536                (2,536)               -                       

New financial assets originated/recoveries -                       1,838                2                       1,840                

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs (17,278)             9,656                58,014              50,392              

Financial assets derecognised/written-off (8,361)               (7,133)               (18,751)             (34,245)             

Allowance for ECL as at December 31, 2021 11,141$            27,904$            75,259$            114,304$           

Transfers:
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (214)                  214                   -                       -                       
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (124)                  -                       124                   -                       
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 715                   (715)                  -                       -                       
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 -                       (466)                  466                   -                       
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 1,231                (1,231)               -                       
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 -                       4,277                (4,277)               -                       

New financial assets originated/recoveries 3,890                3,069                1,865                8,824                

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs (369)                  (5,557)               (12,694)             (18,620)             

Financial assets derecognised/written-off (1,627)               (6,575)               (34,290)             (42,492)             

Allowance for ECL as at December 31, 2022 14,643$            22,151$            25,222$            62,016$            

2022 and 2021
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Credit Cards Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Allowance for ECL as at January 1, 2021 3,132$              14$                   54$                   3,200$              
Transfers:

Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (179)                  179                   -                       -$                     
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (169)                  -                       169                   -$                     
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 108                   (108)                  -                       -$                     
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 3 -                       (7)                     7                       -$                     
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 1 38                     -                       (38)                   -$                     
Transfers from Stage 3 to Stage 2 -                       7                       (7)                     

New financial assets originated/recoveries 58                     9                       42                     109$                 

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs (1,416)               254                   1,459                297                   

Financial assets derecognised/written-off (385)                  (15)                   (184)                  (584)                  

Allowance for ECL as at December 31, 2021 1,187$              333$                 1,502$              3,022$              

Transfers:
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 2 (656)                  656                   -                       -                       
Transfers from Stage 1 to Stage 3 (72)                   -                       72                     -                       

-                       

New financial assets originated/recoveries 216                   228                   119                   563                   

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs 1,251                (868)                  (1,168)               (785)                  

Financial assets derecognised/written-off (650)                  -                       -                       (650)                  

Allowance for ECL as at December 31, 2022 1,276$              349$                 525$                 2,150$              

2022 and 2021
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Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total
Government
Allowance for ECL as at January 1, 2021 -$                     480$                 -$                     480$                 

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs -                       (113)                  -                       (113)                  

Financial assets derecognised/written-off -                       -                       -                       -                       

Allowance for ECL as at December 31, 2021 -$                     367$                 -$                     367$                 

Transfers:
Transfers from Stage 2 to Stage 1 36                     (36)                   -                       -                       

New financial assets originated/recoveries -                       -                       -                       

Changes in PDs/LGDs/EADs (36)                   (217)                  -                       (253)                  

Financial assets derecognised/written-off -                       (11)                   -                       (11)                   

Allowance for ECL as at December 31, 2022 -$                     103$                 -$                     103$                 

2022 and 2021
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Credit quality 
The following table is an analysis of financial instruments by credit quality: 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Original
Contract Restructured Total

Cash and deposit with banks 
Neither past due or impaired 264,223$            -$                 264,223$        
Past due but not impaired -                         -                   -                    
Impaired -                         -                   -                    

264,223$            -$                 264,223$        

Investments

Neither past due or impaired 732,274$            -$                 732,274$        
Past due but not impaired -                         -                   -                    
Impaired -                         -                   -                    

732,274$            -$                 732,274$        

Loans and advances to customers

Neither past due or impaired 613,387$            67,437$        680,824$        
Past due but not impaired 86,917                28,532          115,449         
Impaired 57,118                8,835            65,953           

757,422$            104,804$       862,226$        

2022
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Original
Contract Restructured Total

Cash and deposit with banks 
Neither past due or impaired 192,458$      -$                   192,458$     
Past due but not impaired -                  -                     -                  
Impaired -                  -                     -                  

192,458$      -$                   192,458$     

Investments
Neither past due or impaired 701,831$      -$                   701,831$     
Past due but not impaired -                  -                     -                  
Impaired -                  -                     -                  

701,831$      -$                   701,831$     

Loans and advances to customers
Neither past due or impaired 618,959$      37,820$          656,779$     
Past due but not impaired 89,867         11,050            100,917       
Impaired 125,355        16,362            141,717       

834,181$      65,232$          899,413$     

2021
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Financial assets are past due when a counterparty has failed to make a payment when contractually due. 
 
The average mortgage balance was $110,103 (2021: $114,756) while the average business account 
balance was $215,805 (2021: $227,728).  The average consumer balance was $22,689 (2021: 22,927).   

The largest exposure to a single loan customer, other than the Government of The Bahamas (Note 9), 
was approximately $1.6 million (2021: $1.7 million). Mortgage loans and business loans can extend up 
to 35 years and 10 years, respectively while consumer loans can extend up to 10 years. 
 
The credit quality of loans and advances to customers is shown in the following table: 
 

 

Original
Contract Restructured Total

Loans and advances to customers
Residential mortgage
Neither past due or impaired 104,814$            891$             105,705$        
Past due but not impaired 24,552                419               24,971           

  Impaired 30,303                207               30,510           

159,669$            1,517$          161,186$        

Business
Neither past due or impaired 15,505$              113$             15,618$         
Past due but not impaired 3,667                  -                   3,667             

  Impaired 3,350                  -                   3,350             

22,522$              113$             22,635$         

Personal
Neither past due or impaired 437,788$            66,433$        504,221$        
Past due but not impaired 51,767                28,113          79,880           

  Impaired 22,447                8,628            31,075           

512,002$            103,174$       615,176$        

Credit card
Neither past due or impaired 26,385$              -$                 26,385$         
Past due but not impaired 6,931                  -                   6,931             

  Impaired 1,018                  -                   1,018             

34,334$              -$                 34,334$         

Government
Neither past due or impaired 28,895$              -$                 28,895$         
Past due but not impaired -                         -                   -                    

  Impaired -                         -                   -                    

28,895$              -$                 28,895$         

757,422$            104,804$       862,226$        

2022
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All financial assets outside of loans and advances to customers are neither past due nor impaired. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Original
Contract Restructured Total

Loans and advances to customers
Residential mortgage
Neither past due or impaired 99,240$       455$              99,695$       
Past due but not impaired 29,997         814                30,811         

  Impaired 37,216         596                37,812         
166,453$      1,865$           168,318$     

Business
Neither past due or impaired 14,095$       22$                14,117$       
Past due but not impaired 2,554           -                    2,554           

  Impaired 4,152           145                4,297           
20,801$       167$              20,968$       

Personal
Neither past due or impaired 440,768$      37,343$          478,111$     
Past due but not impaired 51,286         10,236           61,522         

  Impaired 81,019         15,621           96,640         
573,073$      63,200$          636,273$     

Credit card

Neither past due or impaired 25,740$       -$                  25,740$       
Past due but not impaired 6,030           -                    6,030           

  Impaired 2,968           -                    2,968           

34,738$       -$                  34,738$       

Government
Neither past due or impaired 39,116$       -$                  39,116         
Past due but not impaired -                 -                    -                 

  Impaired -                 -                    -                 

39,116$       -$                  39,116$       

834,181$      65,232$          899,413$     

2021
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The table below shows the distribution of loans and advances to customers that are neither past due nor 
impaired: 
 
 

 
 
 
Watch list accounts are those that are exhibiting signs of distress or accounts that have been in distress 
in the past.  Indications of distress include consistent arrears reflecting reduced income of the borrower, 
death of one of the parties to the loan, marital issues or divorce, illness, diminished business cash flows, 
etc. 
 
Conversely, satisfactory accounts are accounts that are generally being serviced as agreed with no 
material indications that the borrower will default.   
 
The analysis of the age of loans and advances to customers that were past due but not impaired is as 
follows: 
 

 
 
 

2022 2021
Satisfactory risk 678,259$            653,870$       

Watch list 2,565                  2,909            

680,824$            656,779$       

Residential Credit
mortgage Business Personal card Total

Past due up to 29 days 19,311$              2,793$          57,852$         4,187$             84,143$          
Past due 30 - 59 days 3,258                  568               13,162           1,910               18,898           
Past due 60 - 89 days 2,402                  306               8,866             834                  12,408           

24,971$              3,667$          79,880$         6,931$             115,449$        

Residential Credit
mortgage Business Personal card Total

Past due up to 29 days 20,581$              1,772$          37,885$         3,285$             63,523$          
Past due 30 - 59 days 5,134                  746               11,291           1,769               18,940           
Past due 60 - 89 days 5,096                  36                 12,346           976                  18,454           

30,811$              2,554$          61,522$         6,030$             100,917$        

2022

2021
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Restructured loans 
Restructuring activity is designed to manage customer relationships, maximise collection opportunities 
and, if possible, avoid foreclosure or repossession.  Such activities include extended payment 
arrangements, approved debt management plans, deferring foreclosure, modification, loan rewrites 
and/or deferral of payments pending a change in circumstances.  Restructuring of consumer loans 
normally results in additional collateral, a co-signer or guarantor or a garnishee of salary being added 
to the loan.  Following the restructuring, an overdue consumer account is normally reset from 
delinquent to current status.  Restructuring policies and practices are based on indicators or criteria 
which, in the judgment of management, indicate that repayment will probably continue.  These policies 
are continually reviewed and their application varies according to the nature of the market, the product, 
and the availability of empirical data.  
 
 
In the Group’s current IFRS 9 ECL weighted risk rating model, restructured accounts attract a higher 
risk weighting than accounts that have not been restructured. 
 
Collateral Relative to Loans and advances to customers  
It is the Bank’s policy to determine that, at the time of origination, loans are within the customer’s 
capacity to repay, rather than to rely excessively on security.  Loans classified as personal typically 
take into account the customer’s standing and employment and credit histories and are generally 
unsecured.  The Bank has guidelines as part of its credit policy on the acceptability of specific classes 
of collateral which are reviewed regularly. 
 
The principal collateral types are as follows: 
 
 Personal - garnishees over salary and chattel mortgages; 
 Residential mortgage - mortgages over residential properties; 
 Commercial and industrial - charges over business assets such as premises, stock, and 
debtors; 
 Commercial real estate - charges over the properties being financed. 
 
The Group closely monitors collateral held for financial assets considered credit-impaired, as it 
becomes more likely that the Group will take possession of the collateral to mitigate potential credit 
losses.  Financial assets that are credit-impaired and related collateral held to mitigate potential losses 
are shown below. 
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The Group’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have not changed during the reporting period. There 
has been no significant change in the overall quality of the collateral held by the Group since the prior 
period. 
 

 
ECL sensitivity analysis 
If the loss given default increases/decreases by 5% and all other variables remain constant, the Group’s 
ECL is estimated to increase/decrease as noted below. 
 
 

 
 
 

Gross Allowance  Net carrying Value of 
carrying amount for ECL amount collateral held

Residential mortgage 30,510$              8,628$          21,882           30,403$           
Business 3,350                  1,328            2,022             2,824               
Personal 31,075                25,222          5,853             179                  
Credit card 1,018                  525               493                -                      

65,953$              35,703$        30,250$         33,406$           

Gross Allowance Net carrying Value of 
exposure for ECL amount collateral held

Residential mortgage 37,812$              8,823$          28,989$         37,560$           
Business 4,297                  890               3,407             3,999               
Personal 96,640                75,259          21,381           449                  
Credit card 2,968                  1,502            1,466             -                  

141,717$            86,474$        55,243$         42,008$           

2022

2021

2022 2021
Residential mortgage 189$                      233$                 
Business 12                          4                       
Personal 3,437                     1,746                 
Credit cards 9                            148                   
Government 5                            18                     
Investments 162                        149                   

3,814$                   2,298$               

Loss Given Default (LGD)
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e. Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk is the potential for loss if the Group is unable to meet financial commitments promptly
at reasonable prices as they fall due.  Financial commitments include liabilities to depositors and
suppliers, and lending, pledging and investment commitments.  Managing liquidity and funding risk is
essential to maintaining both depositor confidence and stability in earnings.

The Group manages liquidity and funding risk by ensuring that sufficient liquid assets and funding 
capacity are available to meet financial commitments, even in times of stress.  The Directors’ Executive 
Committee oversees the Group’s liquidity and funding risk management framework which includes 
operating within clearly defined Board limits, regulatory liquidity requirements and strong effective 
processes to monitor and manage risk, including contingency plans to facilitate managing through a 
distressing situation.   

Included in deposits from customers are deposits totaling $194.2 million (2021: $234.7 million) from 
a single customer representing 12.85% (2021: 16.6%) of the total deposits from customers.  The 
amounts are comprised primarily of certificates of deposits from a related party. 

There have been no changes in the policies and procedures for managing liquidity risk compared to the 
prior year. 
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The following tables summarize the cash flows from financial instruments into maturity groupings, 
based on the remaining period to the contractual maturity dates.  The cash flows presented are 
undiscounted.   
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

As of December 31, 2022
 Within 3 

Months  3 - 12 months 
Over 1 - 5 

Years Over 5 years       Total

Assets
Cash and deposits with banks 264,223$           -$                      -$                      -$                      264,223$           
Investments 222,202             146,205             203,248             179,045             750,700             
Loans and advances to customers 50,891               152,674             265,768             779,016             1,248,349          

Total financial assets 537,316$           298,879$           469,016$           958,061$           2,263,272$        
Liabilities
Deposits from customers 879,889$           160,134$           272,482$           233,575$           1,546,080$        
Lease liabilities 155                   464                   870                   -                    1,489                 
Other Liabilities 15,455               -                    -                    -                    15,455               

Total financial liabilities 895,499$           160,598$           273,352$           233,575$           1,563,024$        
Net liquidity gap (358,183)$         138,281$          195,664$          724,486$          700,248$          

As of December 31, 2021
 Within 3 
Months  3 - 12 months Over 1 - 5 Years Over 5 years      Total

Assets
Cash and deposits with banks 192,458$            -                        -                        -                        192,458             
Investments 367,616             129,096             316,883             419,988             1,233,583           
Loans and advances to customers 74,562               42,672               538,067             824,962 1,480,263           
Other assets 2,502                 -                        -                        -                        2,502                 

Total financial assets 637,138$            171,768             854,950             1,244,950           2,908,806           
Liabilities 
Deposits from customers 960,196$            162,536             250,200             121,159             1,494,091           
Lease liabilities -                    -                    1,369                 -                    1,369                 
Other liabilties 13,816               -                    -                    -                    13,816               

Total financial liabilities 974,012$            162,536             251,569             121,159             1,509,276           
Net liquidity gap (336,874)$          9,232$               603,381$           1,123,791$         1,399,530$         
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Management of the Bank’s short-term liquidity gap 
 
In the normal course of business, the Group experiences a short-term liquidity gap, where the amounts 
it holds as deposits for customers may exceed its available liquid assets matching the same maturity. 
The Group manages this short-term liquidity gap by establishing a Liquidity Buffer of marketable 
securities with a long-term duration that can be liquidated or applied as collateral to meet unexpected 
payment obligations while continuing normal banking activities; and without obtaining new funding. 
The Group also monitors its liquid assets in relation to the demand and savings deposits from customers 
to ensure that the liquid assets are sufficient to fund withdrawals of demand and savings deposits. 
Liquidity risks related to certificates of deposits are managed with contractual limitations on the timing 
and amount of early withdrawals. The Group also has access to inter-bank lending facilitated by The 
Central Bank of the Bahamas should additional liquidity be needed. 
 
f. Insurance risk  
Insurance risk is the risk of loss resulting from the occurrence of an insured event.  Laurentide issues 
contracts for credit life insurance only on loans written by the Bank.  All lives insured are debtors under 
closed-end consumer credit transactions that arise from direct loans with the Bank.  The underwriting 
strategy aims to ensure that the underwritten risks are well diversified to achieve a sufficiently large 
population of risks to reduce the variability of the expected outcome.  At present, this risk does not vary 
significantly in relation to the location of the risk insured by the Group.  
 
To mitigate risk, no insurance contract is issued to persons aged 65 and over.  Prior to 2017, no 
insurance contract was issued to persons aged 60 and over.  The amount of life insurance at risk on any 
one policy is as follows: 
 
Policies written up to 2016: 
Auto loans - Maximum of $10,000 or net indebtedness to the Bank 
All other loans - Maximum of $20,000 or net indebtedness to the Bank 
 
Policies written after 2016: 
All loans - Maximum of $70,000 or net indebtedness to Bank 
 
g. Currency risk  
Currency risk is the risk that the fair values and/or amounts realised on settlement of financial 
instruments, and settlements of foreign currency transactions, will fluctuate due to changes in foreign 
exchange rates.  Currency risk arises when future commercial transactions and recognised monetary 
assets and liabilities are denominated in currencies other than the Bank’s functional currency.  The 
Bank is not subject to significant currency risk as its foreign currency transactions and monetary assets 
and liabilities are predominately denominated in currencies with foreign exchange rates currently fixed 
against the Bank’s functional currency. 
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h. Operational risk 
Operational risk is the potential for loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes or 
systems, human error or external events not related to credit, market or liquidity risks.  The Group 
manages this risk by maintaining a comprehensive system of internal control and internal audit, 
including organizational and procedural controls.  The system of internal control includes written 
communication of the Group’s policies and procedures governing corporate conduct and risk 
management; comprehensive business planning; effective segregation of duties; delegation of authority 
and personal accountability; careful selection and training of personnel and sound accounting policies, 
which are regularly updated.  These controls and audits are designed to provide the Group with 
reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded against unauthorized use or disposition, liabilities are 
recognised, and the Group is in compliance with all regulatory requirements. 
 
 
i. Off balance sheet risk  
In the normal course of business, and in order to meet the financing needs of its customers, the Group 
may enter into financial instruments with off balance sheet risk. These instruments can be classified 
into the commitments category. The Group mitigates the risks associated with such financial 
instruments by transacting only with well-established, high credit quality financial institutions. At this 
time, the Group has no exposure to these instruments with the exception to letters of credit and 
guarantees (Note 23).   
 
 

25. Subsequent Events 

The Bank has declared an extraordinary dividend for common shares, to all shareholders of record 
February 21, 2023, of 2 cents per share, totaling $5.9 million. 

The Bank has declared a quarterly dividend for common shares, to all shareholders of record at March 
15, 2023, and paid the dividend in the amount of 2 cents per share, totaling $5.9 million. 
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